## **Public Document Pack**



# **BOROUGH OF RUSHMOOR**

To the Mayor and Members of the Council,

YOU ARE HEREBY SUMMONED to attend a Meeting of the Council to be held at the Council Offices, Farnborough on *Thursday, 6th December, 2018 at 7.00 pm* for the transaction of the business set out on the Agenda given below.

## AGENDA

## 1. MINUTES

To confirm the Minutes of the Ordinary Meeting of the Council held on 4th October, 2018 (copy Minutes attached).

## 2. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

### 3. STANDING ORDER 8 - QUESTIONS

To receive any questions by Members submitted in pursuance of Standing Order 8 (3).

## 4. NOTICE OF MOTION - HOUSING ASSOCIATION PERFORMANCE

To consider the following Notice of Motion, which has been submitted by Cr. A.J. Halstead pursuant to Standing Order 9 (1):

"This Council:

- Notes multiple reports of Housing Associations in Rushmoor failing to respond to emails, thereby impeding deaf and hearing impaired residents from communicating with their landlord;
- Notes that local authorities have limited powers to deal with poor performance by Housing Associations.

This Council therefore resolves:

- To write to the Secretary of State to request additional powers to sanction Housing Associations, including but not limited to fines and in extreme cases confiscation of housing".

## 5. **RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE CABINET AND COMMITTEES**

To consider the recommendations of the Cabinet in relation to the following items:

## (1) **Proposed Adoption of Post-Consultation Licensing Policy**

To receive a report which recommends the adoption of the revised Statement of Licensing Policy 2018 (copy attached – Annex 1). The Portfolio Holder for Operational Services (Cllr M.L. Sheehan) will introduce this item.

### (2) International Cultural and Business Links

To receive a report which recommends the establishment of new cultural and business links with areas in Nepal, Poland and the United States (copy attached – Annex 2). The Leader of the Council (Cllr D.E. Clifford) will introduce this item.

## 6. **QUESTIONS FOR THE CABINET**

To receive any questions by Members to Cabinet Members submitted in accordance with the Procedure Note.

## 7. **REPORTS OF CABINET AND COMMITTEES**

To receive and ask questions on the Reports of the following Meetings (copy reports attached):

### Cabinet

16th October, 2018 13th November, 2018

## Committees

Licensing, Audit and General Purposes Development Management Development Management 24th September, 2018 10th October, 2018 7th November, 2018

## 8. REPORTS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AND POLICY AND PROJECT ADVISORY BOARD

To note the Reports of the following meetings (copy reports attached):

Overview and Scrutiny Committee Policy and Project Advisory Board 1st November, 2018 21st November, 2018

A.E. COLVER Head of Democratic and Customer Services

Council Offices Farnborough Hampshire GU14 7JU

Wednesday 28 November 2018

This page is intentionally left blank

## BOROUGH OF RUSHMOOR

**MEETING OF THE BOROUGH COUNCIL** held at the Council Chamber, Council Offices, Farnborough on Thursday, 4th October, 2018 at 7.00 pm.

The Worshipful The Mayor (Cllr S.J. Masterson (Chairman)) The Deputy Mayor (Cllr Sue Carter (Vice-Chairman))

Cllr Mrs. D.B. Bedford Cllr T.D. Bridgeman Cllr M.S. Choudhary Cllr Liz Corps Cllr P.I.C. Crerar Cllr Sue Dibble Cllr Jennifer Evans Cllr C.P. Grattan Cllr B. Jones Cllr Mara Makunura Cllr Nadia Martin Cllr A.R. Newell Cllr P.F. Rust Cllr M.D. Smith Cllr M.J. Tennant Cllr J.E. Woolley

Cllr D.M.T. Bell Cllr J.B. Canty Cllr Sophia Choudhary Cllr A.H. Crawford Cllr K. Dibble Cllr R.L.G. Dibbs Cllr Veronica Graham-Green Cllr Barbara Hurst Cllr G.B. Lyon Cllr J.H. Marsh Cllr K.H. Muschamp Cllr M.J. Roberts Cllr M.J. Roberts Cllr M.L. Sheehan Cllr P.G. Taylor Cllr B.A. Thomas

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Cllr A.K. Chowdhury, Cllr D.E. Clifford, Cllr R.M. Cooper, Cllr A.J. Halstead, Cllr Marina Munro and Cllr Jacqui Vosper.

Before the meeting was opened, Cllr G.B. Lyon led the meeting in prayers.

## 77. MINUTES

It was MOVED by Cllr K.H. Muschamp; SECONDED by Cllr M.J. Tennant and

**RESOLVED**: That the Minutes of the Ordinary meeting of the Council held on 26th July, 2018 (having been circulated previously) be taken as read, approved and signed as a correct record, subject to amendments to the attendance list.

## 78. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

(1) The Mayor welcomed several members of staff who attended the meeting to receive their long service awards. There were sixteen officers in total receiving awards marking 20, 25, 30, 35 and 40 years of service, with eight of those officers attending the meeting. The Mayor thanked the staff for their dedication, hard work and commitment to the Council and Borough as a whole. The Mayor then presented the officers with their long service awards.

- (2) The Mayor reported that he had unveiled the new road name of "Sir Hugh Trenchard Way" on 16th August for the southern access road.
- (3) The Mayor advised Members that Merchant Navy Day had been marked at the Council Offices on 3rd September with a short service and the hoisting of the red ensign. The event had been attended by representatives from the Merchant Navy, Royal Navy and Royal British Legion and Members.
- (4) The Mayor informed Members that he had attended the annual Rushmoor in Bloom awards on 10th September at Princes Hall, which was now in its 32nd year. Over 200 gardening enthusiasts had attended the presentation event where there were thirteen categories of awards presented and four special awards. The Mayor congratulated all of the winners. The Mayor thanked the Deputy Mayor for attending the presentation of the awards for the Rushmoor in Bloom schools competition on 13th September at Squires Garden Centre.
- (5) The Mayor advised that the annual charity golf tournament had been held on 14th September at Southwood Golf Course, supported by eleven teams. The Mayor estimated that over £1,500 had been raised for his charities at the event.
- (6) The Mayor informed Members that invitations would be sent out shortly for a "Hampshire at War" event which was being held on the evening of 6th November at the Council Offices. The event would include a presentation on the impact of the aftermath of the First World War in Rushmoor.
- (7) The Mayor advised Members that Rushmoor would be joining the nation in a tribute to 100 years of remembrance on 11th November. Members would be invited to a beacon lighting event in front of the Wellington Statue in Aldershot which would include a short service of poetry and remembrance of the fallen from the Borough during the First World War.

## 79. **STANDING ORDER 8 - QUESTIONS**

The Mayor reported that one urgent question had been submitted under Standing Order 8(3).

A question had been submitted by Cllr T.D. Bridgeman related to the closure of Southwood Golf Course following the liquidation of the operator Mack Trading. An update was requested on the rental income situation, whether there were any outstanding financial claims against the operator and what the situation was for current users of the community facilities and the future use of the building.

In response, the Operational Services Portfolio Holder (Cllr M.L. Sheehan) stated that, following the liquidation of Mack Trading, the Council was trying to make contact with the liquidators to ensure the Council's asset was secured. Once contact had been made with the liquidators and further information was available, an update would be circulated to Members.

## 80. NOTICE OF MOTION - GROWTH BOROUGH

The Council was asked to consider a Motion which had been submitted by Cllr A.H. Crawford in accordance with the provisions of Standing Order 9 (1), which stated that

"Farnborough, as a "Growth Town", is currently among the best 100 performing localities in the UK whose continued success is fundamental to the economic growth of the whole Enterprise M3 Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) area. However as a "Step-Up Town", Aldershot faced significant challenges, including the urgent requirement for regeneration of the town centre. This Council therefore requests that the Enterprise M3 LEP recognises the need to address the gap in performance between the two towns by designating Rushmoor as a "Growth Borough" so that the whole locality can benefit from the investment required to achieve the best performance."

Speaking on his Motion, Cllr Crawford advised that the Enterprise M3 LEP had just published its Strategic Economic Plan 2018-2030 which stated that the Growth and Step-Up Town status would be maintained. However, the LEP would extend their focus to sustainable growth corridors. As the Enterprise M3 LEP would include both Farnborough and Aldershot together as part of the sustainable growth corridor Cllr Crawford stated that he was withdrawing the Motion.

## 81. **RECOMMENDATION OF THE CABINET**

## Establishing the Rushmoor Development Partnership

Cllr M.J. Tennant introduced the Report of the Cabinet meeting held on 18th September, 2018 on the arrangements for establishing the Rushmoor Development Partnership.

It was MOVED by Cllr M.J. Tennant and SECONDED by Cllr K.H. Muschamp – That approval be given to the recommendations to finalise the arrangements for the establishment of the Rushmoor Development Partnership, as set out in the Cabinet Report and as follows:

- (i) Proceed with the creation of the Rushmoor Development Partnership Limited Liability Partnership and to authorise the Legal Services Manager/Corporate Legal Manager to enter into the following documents to enable and support the operation of the partnership:
  - LLP Members Agreement
  - Power of Attorney
  - Loan Note deed(s)
  - LLP security agreement (Debenture)
  - Loan Note Exchange Agreement
- (ii) Confirm that the Council's nominations to the Rushmoor Development Partnership Board and Investment Team are as follows:

Partnership Board

- Leader of the Council
- Major Projects & Property Portfolio Holder
- Executive Director

## Investment Team

- Executive Head of Regeneration and Property
- Regeneration Delivery Manager
- Project Accountant, Financial Services
- (iii) Appoint the Chief Executive to act as the Council's authorised representative as Shareholder.
- (iv) Approve the governance and reporting arrangements as set out in paragraphs 5.1 and 5.2 of the report.

Following debate the Recommendations were put to the meeting. There voted FOR: 25; AGAINST: 1 and the Recommendation was **DECLARED CARRIED**.

## 82. QUESTIONS FOR THE CABINET

The Mayor reported that two questions had been submitted for response by the Cabinet.

(1) Cllr M.J. Roberts asked a question of the Operational Services Portfolio Holder about the Paris Agreement and protecting residents from the effects of traffic pollution.

In response, Cllr M.L. Sheehan advised that the Council complied with requirements in UK law relating to emissions. An annual report was published annually setting out the Council's measures of air quality and objectives were being met. However, the Council would continue to work with Hampshire County Council and Highways England on improving air quality and emissions.

(2) Cllr M.J. Tennant asked a question of the Operational Services Portfolio Holder about the closure of Southwood Golf Course.

In response, Cllr M.L. Sheehan advised that an email had been circulated to all Council Members from the Chief Executive stating that, following the liquidation of the operator Mack Trading, the Council had tried to contact the liquidators to secure the Council's asset. The Legal Services Manager had been asked to obtain specialist legal advice on the options and Members would be notified once further information was available.

## 83. **REPORTS OF CABINET AND COMMITTEES**

## (1) **Cabinet**

It was MOVED by Cllr K.H. Muschamp; SECONDED by Cllr Barbara Hurst and

**RESOLVED**: That the Reports of the Meetings of the Cabinet held on 24th July, 21st August and 18th September, 2018 be received.

## (2) **Development Management Committee**

It was MOVED by Cllr B.A. Thomas; SECONDED by Cllr J.H. Marsh and

**RESOLVED**: That the Reports of the Meetings of the Development Management Committee held on 18th July, 2018 and 15th August, 2018 be received.

## (3) Licensing, Audit and General Purposes Committee

It was MOVED by Cllr J.E. Woolley; SECONDED by Cllr M.D. Smith and

**RESOLVED**: That the Reports of the Meetings of the Licensing, Audit and General Purposes Committee held on 30th July, 2018 be received.

## 84. REPORTS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AND POLICY AND PROJECT ADVISORY BOARD

**RESOLVED**: That the Reports of the undermentioned meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Policy and Project Advisory Board be received:

Meeting	Date
Policy and Project Advisory Board	12th July, 2018
Overview and Scrutiny Committee	19th July, 2018
Policy and Project Advisory Board	30th August, 2018
Overview and Scrutiny Committee	13th September, 2018
Policy and Project Advisory Board	19th September, 2018

The meeting closed at 7.50 pm.

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

## ANNEX 1

## COUNCIL MEETING – 6TH DECEMBER, 2018

## AGENDA ITEM NO. 5 (1)

## PROPOSED ADOPTION OF POST-CONSULTATION LICENSING POLICY

A report from the meeting of the Cabinet held on 13th November, 2018

## 1. BACKGROUND & INTRODUCTION

- 1.1 The Licensing Act 2003 (the Act) regulates the sale and supply of alcohol, the provision of late night refreshment and a wide range of entertainments. Licensable activities are regulated through a personal and premises licence regime administered and enforced by the Council's Licensing team.
- 1.2 As a Licensing Authority under the Act, the Council is obliged to prepare and publish a statement of licensing policy every five years and to keep it under review. Whilst subject to statutory consultation requirements, this sets out the policies and arrangements the Council will apply and consider in exercise of its functions; particularly when making decisions on relevant licence applications and authorisations established under the Act.
- 1.3 The Council's current licensing policy was last reviewed in 2010. Whilst tailored to reflect local circumstances and guidance, this was itself developed from a framework policy prepared by the Hampshire & Isle of Wight Licensing Officers' Group in 2005.
- 1.4 Since this time, a number of legislative changes and changes to associated guidance issued by the Secretary of State have been published. Collectively, these factors have prompted a review of the Council's licensing policy and Cabinet was asked to, and subsequently approved the resulting policy for public consultation at its meeting 24th July (see report EHH1821). A copy of the proposed policy can be viewed at www.rushmoor.gov.uk/proposedlicensingpolicy.
- 1.5 Notably, and in accordance with Section 5 of the Act, statements of licensing policy can only be approved by Full Council following due consideration of any consultation feedback. Accordingly, this report outlines the consultation comments received and recommends the approval of the revised policy for adoption.
- 1.6 As the Act regulates various business activities and provides different means of redress where these cause problems, the licensing policy has, by association, clear links to the Council's priorities in respect of community leadership, economic development, prosperity and town centre regeneration. Furthermore, as changes to licensing policy may affect all

licensed premises and/or licensable activities throughout the borough, any determination of revised policy is considered a key decision.

## 2. CONSULTATION & FEEDBACK DETAILS

## 2.1 Statutory (public) consultation arrangements

2.2 In accordance with the requirements of the Act, the draft policy was subject to public consultation to 19th October. This included consultation with statutory stakeholders and a number (n= 313) of other agencies, trade bodies and individuals who may be affected by the change(s) (e.g. the licensed trade and representatives of residents in the area). The consultation was also published on the Council's website over this period.

## 2.3 Statutory (public) consultation feedback

2.4 A single comment / representation was submitted in respect of the consultation by the British Beer & Pub Association (BBPA) on 19<sup>th</sup> October. The representation expresses the BBPA's support for the proposed revision to the licensing policy in respect of removal of the special policy for cumulative impact in previously designated areas of Aldershot. For reference, a full copy of the representation is reproduced at **appendix A**.

## 2.5 Member Consultation

2.6 By way of Member consultation, the draft policy was put before Members of the Licensing, Audit & General Purposes Committee (LA&GP) for comments at its meeting of 24<sup>th</sup> September (see <u>Head of Environmental</u> <u>Health & Housing report EHH 18 24</u>).

## 2.7 Member consultation feedback

2.8 Pending their approval at its next meeting of 26<sup>th</sup> November 2018, minutes of the LA&GP Committee meeting are not yet available for ratification. However, whilst subject to some discussion, Members made no substantive comments or suggested amendments on the contents of the proposed policy document.

## 3. CONSULTATION COMMENTARY

3.1 As an expression of support for the Council's proposed policy approach to cumulative impact, the BBPA's representation is not considered substantive as to warrant any further amendment to the proposed policy at this time. By virtue of paragraph 4.10 (page 20), it is considered that the proposed policy adequately states the Council's position on cumulative impact while providing a means to review this where appropriate. This states -

At the time of writing, no special policy has been requested and/or is considered necessary. However, the Licensing Authority will review this, where a Responsible Authority or other party, submits suitable evidence to

suggest there is a negative effect on the promotion of the licensing objectives due to cumulative impact.

3.2 As no other consultation comments or representations have been made or received, it is considered that no other amendment(s) to the proposed policy are similarly necessary at this time.

## 4. IMPLICATIONS

## Legal Implications

- 4.1 By virtue of section 5 of the Act, the Council is obliged to prepare and publish a statement of licensing policy and to keep this under review. This policy must be subject to statutory consultation and for any consultation comments to be duly considered before its approval by Full Council. Any such policy must seek to promote the Act's statutory licensing objectives (see <u>report EHH1821</u>) and must include a suitable statement on any cumulative impact of licensed premises in the area (as outline above). As a matter of common law, any policy must be also be reasonable and proportionate and should, where appropriate, be justified on the basis of robust evidence.
- 4.2 Whilst there is no offence under the Act, application decisions based on the policy may be subject to challenge where it has not been suitably maintained, is not reasonable or proportionate or is not otherwise based on suitable justification or evidence.
- 4.3 Notably, in the absence of any special policy for cumulative impact, the proposed policy sets out the general considerations that both applicants, interested parties, responsible authorities and the Licensing Authority itself may take into account when considering applications made under the Act. This supports the general principle that the Licensing Authority will consider any matter for its determination objectively and on its own individual merits. Accordingly, when read in conjunction with any guidance offered by the Secretary of State the revised policy (which is subject to public consultation) presents a low risk update.

## Financial and Resource Implications

4.3 There are no financial implications associated with this report save those of the administrative costs and resources associated with the policy approval process. These can however be absorbed within existing budgets.

## **Equalities Impact Implications**

4.4 It is considered that the proposed licensing policy presents no specific impact on those with protected characteristics. The policy seeks to maintain equality of opportunity and recognises that subject to the requirements of the Act, nothing in the policy overrides or undermines the right of any individual or business -

- (a) to apply for one or more of the authorisations under the Act and, where appropriate, to have that application considered on its individual merits;
- (b) to make representations on an application or to seek a review of an authorisation where provision has been made for them to do so; or
- (c) who is aggrieved by the decision of the Licensing Authority to appeal against that decision to the Courts where provision has been made for them to do so.

## 5. CONCLUSIONS

- 5.1 The Council is obliged to prepare and publish a statement of licensing policy based on a number of licensing objectives every five years. Following various legislative changes, the Council's policy has been reviewed and a revised and updated policy has been subject to public consultation in accordance with the requirements of the Act.
- 5.2 Following consultation, a single representation has been received in support of the proposed policy approach to cumulative impact. This is not considered substantive as to warrant further amendment of the proposed policy.

## 6. **RECOMMENDATION**

The Council is recommended to approve the revised Statement of Licensing Policy 2018.

M.L. SHEEHAN PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR OPERATIONAL SERVICES

## **BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:**

**HOME OFFICE (2018)**, Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003. April 2018.

**RUSHMOOR BOROUGH COUNCIL (2010)**, Statement of Licensing Policy.

## **APPENDIX A**

PUB

BEER

## **BRITISH BEER & PUB ASSOCIATION (BBPA) CONSULTATION FEEDBACK**

Rushmoor Borough Council Consultation – Revised Statement of Licensing Policy – Sept 2018



British Beer & Pub Association Response October 2018

# The British Beer & Pub Association is the UK's leading organisation representing the brewing and pub sector.

Our members account for some 90 per cent of beer brewed in Britain today, and own around 20,000 of the nation's pubs. A full list of our members can be found <u>here</u>.

Our members operate pubs across the UK and, as such, are impacted by national and local licensing issues. We welcome the opportunity to respond to this consultation and our views are set out below.



#### Introduction

The British Beer & Pub Association is the UK's leading organisation representing the brewing and pub sector. Our members account for 90% of the beer sold in the UK and own around 20,000 of Britain's pubs.

The pub plays a vital role in community cohesion and social life in Britain. They remain one of the few places where communities can come together to socialise. The British pub has been part of people's lives for hundreds of years. First and foremost, they are businesses which serve their local communities and contribute much to the social life of each and every community. The pub sector has enormous potential to generate economic growth and create jobs. It can also play an important part in local regeneration projects and has been at the heart of the regeneration of many of our key towns and cities over the last fifteen years. A major study undertaken by Oxford Economics in 2018 clearly identifies the significant local impact of brewing and pubs. Currently over £1.5 billion is invested in the pub sector per annum. Indeed, pubs are labour-intensive businesses so this investment directly correlates to jobs. Pubs employ 600,000 people across the UK, often providing vital work in small towns and villages. Indeed, 45% of those employed in the sector are aged 16-24 providing a vital route to work and first career-step for many young people.

Across Britain, 30 million people visit Britain's pubs each month, with over 15 million people drinking beer.

#### BBPA's Support for the Proposed Revision to the Statement of Licensing Policy (SoLP)

We note that one of the three elements of the proposed revision to the Council's SoLP is the removal of the Cumulative Impact Policy (CIP) for some areas of Aldershot.

We are reassured to see the Council advocating the removal of the CIP having considered the evidence of its impact whilst it was active and therefore the need (or otherwise) for it to remain in place. Where there is no evidence that a CIP is required in order to support the Licensing Objectives (or the weight of evidence is insufficient), it is appropriate to remove that CIP.

We therefore support the Council's intention to remove the CIP.

We have no comment on the other two revisions to the SoLP – the removal of the requirement for Neighbourhood Notifications, or the change to the policy regarding Film Classifications.

BBPA contact re this response: Andrew Green, Policy Manager – Pub Operations

3

This page is intentionally left blank

## ANNEX 2

## COUNCIL MEETING – 6TH DECEMBER, 2018

## AGENDA ITEM NO.5 (2)

## INTERNATIONAL CULTURAL AND BUSINESS LINKS

## SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS:

This report provides an overview of the background to town twinning and the arrangements in Rushmoor. The links with the twin towns of Meudon and Oberursel in particular remain strong and active.

Over the last 10-15 years the Borough has experienced significant social and economic changes. In considering these, the potential for establishing new cultural and business links with other areas has been examined.

As a result, and following consultation with the Town Twinning Association, the Cabinet is asked to **RECOMMEND THE COUNCIL** to agree to:

- (i) Seek to establish cultural and business links with the following places:
  - Gorkha Municipality, Nepal
  - Rzeszow, Poland
  - Dayton, Ohio, United States
- (ii) Authorise the Chief Executive and Head of Democracy, Strategy and Partnerships to make the necessary arrangements to establish the formal links in consultation with the Leader of the Council.

## 1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

1.1 Town twinning has been in existence in Britain for nearly 100 years, although it only really became established after the Second World War. This was part of a wider aim to bring communities together and to promote reconciliation. During the 1970's and 1980's, town twinning developed rapidly between British and European towns (especially France and Germany) and local authorities had greater freedom to determine with whom they would twin and the nature of the twinning. It was from the 1990's that twinning links started to develop outside of Europe where areas with multicultural communities with a high proportion of people from a specific region, sought to increase cultural considerations and awareness to help promote social cohesion.

- 1.2 Town twinning has continued over time and is still very much in existence today albeit on a somewhat reduced scale. An increasing trend has been to move away from formal, long term, partnerships to those that are less formal and prescribed but are endorsed by a friendship agreement or memorandum of understanding.
- 1.3 There is no formal cultural of statutory definition of town twinning and it can come in many forms. There is no statutory requirement or provisions relating to town twinning or friendship links and local authorities can determine what any relationship would involve. As a result, Rushmoor has assessed its own arrangements and considered the implication of recent social and economic changes in the Borough.

## 2. **RUSHMOOR'S LINKS**

- 2.1 Rushmoor currently twins with the following European towns/cities:
  - Meudon, France since 1974
  - Oberursel, Germany since 1989
  - Sulechow, Poland since 2001
- 2.2 The twinning arrangements with Meudon and Oberursel have been productive and valuable since they were established. At certain times relationships have been quieter but generally the educational, cultural and voluntary group links have been very positive. For many years the arrangements have been managed by the Rushmoor Town Twinning Association entirely independently of the Council. In 2019, Rushmoor and Oberusel will be celebrating 30 years of the association and it is intended that representatives of both towns will be in attendance at the Mayor's Banquet and Ball on 8th March, 2019.

## 3. NEW CULTURAL AND BUSINESS LINKS

- 3.1 The Borough has developed and changed over the past 15 years and there is an opportunity to reflect this in links with cities/towns in other parts of the world. Two of the significant changes are:
  - Development of Aerospace Industries Since Farnborough Airport moved to civilian use there has been a gradual growth in associated industries near the Airport and in Farnborough. The companies located here include BAE Systems, Leonardo, Weston, Flight Safety, Boeing and Qinetiq. The recent announcement that Gulfstream will be moving its UK headquarters here is also very positive for Farnborough and makes it more attractive to complementary businesses in this country and abroad.
  - Increase in the Nepalese population The Nepalese community has a strong presence in the Borough because of the Gurkha connection with the Aldershot Garrison (the Queens Own Gurkha Logistic Regiment is still there). Since 2008, the number of Nepali residents in Rushmoor has

increased significantly and it is likely that up to 10% of the population is of Nepalese origin. The Council has undertaken a significant amount of work to manage the process of integration and to promote community cohesion. The Nepalese community are now a key part of Rushmoor life.

- 3.2 As a result of these changes, Cabinet Members, in conjunction with other local organisations, such as Farnborough Aerospace Consortium, have been exploring the potential of establishing links with other places to help develop mutual understanding and promote opportunities for cultural and business connections to benefit both Rushmoor and the other areas. As a result, it is proposed to seek international links with the following places:
  - (i) Gorkha Municipality This is located within the Gorkha district and lies some 140km north west of Kathmandu with a population of approximately 40,000. During October, the Nepalese Ambassador made an informal visit to Rushmoor to discuss the potential for the link which he felt would sit very comfortably with Gorkha as the name reflects the brave soldiers that have moved from there to serve in the British Army. He considered that the link would offer great potential for joint learning and referred especially to democracy, education, technology and culture. It was clear that Rushmoor was a key place to establish an association and would provide inspiration for the Gorkha community.

Developing the link and obtaining the necessary approvals would be coordinated through the Nepalese Ambassador who would like to take a personal interest. It is understood that the local Nepalese community is excited by the prospect of establishing a link. The link would be legitimised by a memorandum of understanding signed at a formal ceremony.

(ii) Dayton, Ohio – The development of a link with Dayton, Ohio is very much driven by aerospace and associated businesses. Ohio's geographic location has proved to be an asset for economic growth and expansion. Because Ohio links the Northwest to the Midwest, much cargo and business traffic passes through its borders along its welldeveloped highways.

Dayton is a city in western Ohio and is noted for its association with aviation. Not only is it the birth place of Orville Wright but it is home to the National Museum of the U.S. Air Force, with a vast collection of aircraft, from early 1900s planes to a space shuttle exhibit. Carillon Historical Park contains a Wright Brothers plane.

The Dayton region gave birth to aviation and is known for its high concentration of aerospace and aviation technology. In 2009, the Governor designated Dayton as Ohio's aerospace innovation hub, the state's first such technology hub. Two major United States' research and development organisations have leveraged Dayton's historical leadership in aviation and maintain their headquarters at Wright-Patterson Air Force Base. Wright-Patterson Air Force Base is one of the

Air Force's largest air base wings. In addition, state officials are working to make the Dayton region a hub and a leader for Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) research and manufacturing.

Farnborough Aerospace Consortium already have links with the British American Chamber of Commerce in Ohio to enhance the regions' SME communities knowledge and business opportunities. Indeed, Ohio came to the Farnborough Air Show 2018 as exhibitors.

Because of the strong aerospace influence in Dayton there is a natural link to Farnborough - the "Cradle of British Aviation". It would be a natural progression to get a stronger link between the two regions especially as the regional Aerospace Trade Association located within the Council Offices is an ideal platform to build relations and business opportunities.

Having given careful consideration to the opportunity and informal contacts having been made with the City Mayor, who seems enthusiastic about the potential collaboration. It is therefore proposed that Rushmoor seeks to establish a link with Dayton.

**Rzeszow, Poland** – Rzeszow lies in the Podkarpackie region of south (iii) east Poland which has boundaries with the Ukraine and Slovakia. The city forms a central part of an area known as Aviation Valley which has been a centre for aviation since before the Second World War. Rzeszow is the biggest city in the region and the aviation industry developed following foreign investment attracted by a supply of relatively cheap, skilled labour and a range of small aviation orientated businesses. There is an association of aviation factories there, with over 100 manufacturers, with other business associations and educational institutions. A significant amount of complementary development in the area is taking place. 90% of Poland's aviation industry is concentrated in the area with employment in the sector around 24,000. There are fourteen large international companies in Aviation Valley, including Pratt and Whitney and Safran. There are also a significant number of companies producing complex parts for the industry.

Businesses in the region already have contacts in the Rushmoor area and an informal discussion with the Deputy Head of the Department of Promotion and International Co-operation has shown a strong willingness to develop a link. The link would be focussed around business, education and culture.

Given the potential business links and the aerospace connections it is proposed that a link with Rzeszow is progressed. This business and educational link would be subject to a memorandum of understanding.

3.3 If the Council approves the establishment of these links the next stage will be to make formal contact with the towns. Subject to the outcome of the contacts

the development of the links will proceed. Subject to there being agreement, arrangements will be made to formalise the links in Spring 2019.

## 4. ROLE OF THE TOWN TWINNING ASSOCIATION

- 4.1 The Town Twining Association has been consulted on the proposals to develop the links with Gorkha, Dayton and Rzeszow. The Association is broadly in agreement with the new arrangements.
- 4.2 The Association is currently undertaking a review of its working arrangements and Constitution and will be taking the proposals into account in doing this. The Association has a Co-ordinator who is paid for by the Council, although that is the only support given by Rushmoor. If the Council approves the links, further discussions will be held with the Association on how the links will be supported.

## 5. IMPLICATIONS OF THE PROPOSED LINKS

- 5.1 The nature of the proposed links will not place any specific responsibilities on the Council. In terms of the Council's priorities, the proposals support the work towards developing a centre of excellence for aerospace and initiatives to foster civic pride, improve cohesion and increase community engagement.
- 5.2 There are no legal implications as such links are not underpinned by statute. There are no other implications although a one-off bid will be submitted for 2019/20 to meet the cost of setting up the links. The potential business, education and cultural links will add value to the prosperity of the Borough.

## 6. **CONCLUSIONS**

6.1 The continuing development of Farnborough as an aerospace centre and the Nepalese becoming integrated as part of the Rushmoor community has presented opportunities to develop further links with cities/towns which complement Rushmoor. The links will involve a memorandum of understanding but will not have the formality of a traditional town twinning arrangement.

D.E. CLIFFORD LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: None This page is intentionally left blank

## CABINET

Meeting held on Tuesday, 16th October, 2018 at the Council Offices, Farnborough at 7.00 pm.

## Voting Members

Cllr D.E. Clifford, Leader of the Council Cllr K.H. Muschamp, Deputy Leader

Cllr Barbara Hurst, Planning and Economy Portfolio Holder Cllr G.B. Lyon, Corporate and Democratic Services Portfolio Holder Cllr M.L. Sheehan, Operational Services Portfolio Holder Cllr P.G. Taylor, Customer Experience and Improvement Portfolio Holder Cllr M.J. Tennant, Major Projects and Property Portfolio Holder

The Cabinet considered the following matters at the above-mentioned meeting. All executive decisions of the Cabinet shall become effective, subject to the call-in procedure, from **29**<sup>th</sup> **October**, **2018**.

## 43. MINUTES –

The Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 16th September, 2018 were confirmed and signed by the Chairman.

### 44. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2019-22 -

(Cllr Gareth Lyon, Corporate and Democratic Services Portfolio Holder)

The Cabinet considered Report No. FIN1829, which set out the Council's Medium Term Financial Strategy and sought endorsement of an updated Strategy for the three-year period 2019/20 to 2021/22.

The Cabinet was advised that this was the first of a series of reports that would support decisions for the budget recommendations to the Council. It was also confirmed that this document would be modified as updated information became available, before being submitted to the Council for adoption in February 2019. Members were informed that the Council continued to face significant financial challenges and would have to make some difficult decisions in order to set the budget over the following three years and beyond. The Report set out the four drivers of change that affected the Medium Term Financial Strategy, being population factors, the economy, policy decisions from Government, Hampshire County Council and Rushmoor Borough Council and Rushmoor 2020.

In response to a question, it was reported that there had been a reduction in the Council's exposure to risk in relation to business rate appeals following changes to the appeals process.

**The Cabinet RESOLVED** that the Council's Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019-22, including the two policy objectives to be achieved, as set out in Report No. FIN1829, be approved.

## 45. REPAIR OF BOUNDARY WALL AT NO. 252 ASH ROAD, ALDERSHOT -

(Cllr Martin Tennant, Major Projects and Property Portfolio Holder)

The Cabinet considered Report No. LEG1810, which requested funding for urgent repair works to the boundary wall at No. 252 Ash Road, Aldershot, which was owned by the Council.

The Report explained that works costing up to £50,000 were required to repair the wall. Whilst the wall had been identified as being in poor condition when the premises had been acquired, a further survey had identified that there had been more movement in the wall than had been expected and that the repair works were required as a matter of urgency.

In response to a question, it was confirmed that, even after the repair works had been completed, the property would demonstrate a rate of return in excess of 5%. It was further confirmed that the projected rates of return of Council-owned properties would always build in allowances for maintenance.

**The Cabinet RESOLVED** that a variation in the Capital Programme of up to £50,000, to enable the necessary repairs to be carried out to the boundary wall at No. 252 Ash Road, Aldershot, as set out in Report No. LEG1810, be approved.

The Meeting closed at 7.14 pm.

CLLR D.E. CLIFFORD, LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

\_\_\_\_\_

## CABINET

Meeting held on Tuesday, 13th November, 2018 at the Council Offices, Farnborough at 7.00 pm.

## Voting Members

Cllr Barbara Hurst, Planning and Economy Portfolio Holder Cllr G.B. Lyon, Corporate and Democratic Services Portfolio Holder Cllr M.L. Sheehan, Operational Services Portfolio Holder Cllr P.G. Taylor, Customer Experience and Improvement Portfolio Holder (in the Chair) Cllr M.J. Tennant, Major Projects and Property Portfolio Holder

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of the Leader of the Council (Cllr D.E. Clifford) and the Deputy Leader (Cllr K.H. Muschamp).

The Cabinet considered the following matters at the above-mentioned meeting. All executive decisions of the Cabinet shall become effective, subject to the call-in procedure, from **26th November**, **2018**.

## 46. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN FOR MEETING –

**The Cabinet RESOLVED** that, in the absence of the Leader of the Council and the Deputy Leader, Cllr P.G. Taylor be appointed Chairman for the meeting.

47. MINUTES –

The Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 16th October, 2018 were confirmed and signed by the Chairman.

## 48. REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING AND FORECASTING 2018/19 - POSITION AT SEPTEMBER, 2018 –

(Cllr Gareth Lyon, Corporate and Democratic Services Portfolio Holder)

The Cabinet considered Report No. FIN1832, which set out the anticipated financial position for 2018/19, based on the monitoring exercise carried out during September, 2018. Members were informed that, for the first time, the Report had provided savings tracking within the financial year. It was reported that, in order to achieve financially sustainability, the net cost of the Council's services would need to reduce by £323,000, either by reducing costs or increasing income. The Council was, however, on target to meet the current year's revised savings, though action to correct overspends was required to achieve the long-term sustainability of the organisation.

### The Cabinet RESOLVED that

(i) the latest Revenue Budget monitoring position, as set out in Report No. FIN1832, be noted; and

(ii) the identification and implementation of measures to eliminate the forecast Quarter 2 overspend be approved.

## 49. CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING 2018/19 - POSITION AT SEPTEMBER, 2018 -

(Cllr Gareth Lyon, Corporate and Democratic Services Portfolio Holder)

The Cabinet received Report No. FIN1833, which provided the latest forecast regarding the Council's Capital Programme for 2018/19, based on the monitoring exercise carried out during September, 2018. The Report advised that the approved Capital Programme for 2018/19, allowing for slippages and additional approvals, totalled £53,895,000. Members were informed that projects of major financial significance to the Council in the Capital Programme for 2018/19 had been scheduled to draw on the Capital budget in the latter part of the year. These projects included the finalisation of the accounts relating to the construction of the Council's new depot, Aldershot Town Centre Integration and Union Street, the finalisation of a loan to Farnborough International and the further acquisition of investment properties.

**The Cabinet NOTED** the latest Capital Programme monitoring position and the development of a gating process, as set out in Report No. FIN1833.

## 50. COUNCIL PLAN 2018/19 - QUARTERLY UPDATE ON KEY ACTIONS JULY - SEPTEMBER 2018 -

(Cllr Gareth Lyon, Corporate and Democratic Services Portfolio Holder)

The Cabinet received Report No. ELT1804, which set out the Council's performance management monitoring information for the second quarter of the 2018/19 municipal year.

**The Cabinet NOTED** the progress made towards delivering the Council Plan 2018/19, as set out in Report No. ELT1804.

## 51. ANNUAL REVIEW OF FEES AND CHARGES -

(Cllr Gareth Lyon, Corporate and Democratic Services Portfolio Holder)

The Cabinet considered Report No. FIN1831, which set out a proposed revised scheme of fees and charges for Council services.

Members were informed that the document included a description of the methodology applied in each case. The Cabinet considered the document and, in particular, discussed issues around some Building Control fees now being described as 'individually determined' rather than fixed. It was explained that this had been a policy choice, made to allow more flexibility to the Council when negotiating and quoting to carry out new work. Members requested that this matter be kept under review, with a further update to be presented to the Cabinet six months after the introduction of the revised fees.

## The Cabinet RESOLVED that approval be given to

- (i) the adoption of the various methodologies attached in Appendix A to Report No. FIN1831 as a basis for uplifting the Council's fees and charges;
- (ii) the continued application of RPIx as the measure of inflation, where an annual inflationary uplift was specified; and
- (iii) the fees and charges, as set out in Appendix A to the Report, for implementation on the applicable dates.

### 52. BUDGET 2019/20 - ROBUSTNESS OF ESTIMATES -

(Cllr Gareth Lyon, Corporate and Democratic Services Portfolio Holder)

The Cabinet considered Report No. FIN1835, which set out the Executive Head of Finance's statement on the robustness of the estimates used in the preparation of the Council's budget.

The Cabinet was informed that this was a statutory requirement under Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003. Members heard that the Report would also enable improved governance of the budget process and an earlier start to the budget process in 2019. It was also proposed to increase the number of officers with responsibility for managing the revenue and capital budgets to improve governance and deliverability.

## The Cabinet RESOLVED that approval be given to

- (i) the level of risk and assumptions which underpin the revenue and capital budget decisions and planning for 2019-22, as set out in Report No. FIN1835;
- (ii) the consideration of starting the budget process earlier in 2019; and
- (iii) the formal designation of Responsible Budget Officers, for the purpose of managing the budget, as set out in paragraph 3.3 of the Report, and the inclusion of these provisions in the Council's Financial Procedure Rules.

### 53. BUDGET 2019/20 - ADEQUACY OF PROVISIONS AND RESERVES -

(Cllr Gareth Lyon, Corporate and Democratic Services Portfolio Holder)

The Cabinet considered Report No. FIN1834, which set out the Executive Head of Finance's statement on the adequacy of provisions and reserves used in the preparation of the Council's budget.

The Cabinet was informed that this was a statutory requirement under Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003. Appendix D to the Report provided a full list of earmarked reserves held by the Council. Members were informed that this list would be rationalised over time. Appendix B set out the risk level and it was suggested that the Budget Strategy Working Group should look at these in detail. In response to a question, Members were invited to challenge the assumptions in Appendix B if felt these were incorrect.

### The Cabinet RESOLVED that

- the policy on both earmarked and general balance reserves and provisions to cover issues such as bad debts and redundancies, as set out in Appendix C to Report No. FIN1834, be approved;
- (ii) based on current planning assumptions and risk forecasts, as set out in Appendix D to Report No. FIN1834, a minimum level of General Balances of £2 million for 2019/20, with a forecast minimum level for planning purposes of £2 million for 2020/21 and £2 million for 2021/22, be approved as part of the consideration of the budget plans for 2019-22, reflecting the transfer of risk from Central to Local Government and supporting recommendations; and
- (iii) further reviews by the Executive Head of Finance of the level of the Council's reserves and provisions, as part of closing the 2018/19 accounts in summer 2019, be approved.

## 54. REGENERATING RUSHMOOR - QUARTER 2 PROGRESS REPORT -

(Cllr Martin Tennant, Major Projects and Property Portfolio Holder)

The Cabinet received Report No. RP1801, which set out progress towards the Council's Regenerating Rushmoor programme for the second quarter of 2018/19. The Report indicated that good progress was being made in most areas. In response to questions, it was confirmed that both the Farnborough Transport Package and Farnborough Civic Quarter projects were, currently, on track.

**The Cabinet NOTED** the progress made towards delivering the Regenerating Rushmoor programme, as set out in Report No. RP1801.

## 55. **PROPOSED ADOPTION OF POST-CONSULTATION LICENSING POLICY** –

(Cllr Maurice Sheehan, Operational Services Portfolio Holder)

The Cabinet considered Report No. OS1827, which set out an updated statement of licensing policy, for submission to the Council.

Members were informed that the Council's licensing policy had been revised following various legislative changes and a review. The revised document had been subject to a public consultation exercise, which had attracted a single representation in support of the revised policy.

**The Cabinet RECOMMENDED TO THE COUNCIL** that approval be given to the Council's revised licensing policy.

## 56. FARNBOROUGH AIRPORT COMMUNITY ENVIRONMENTAL FUND -

(Cllr Maurice Sheehan, Operational Services Portfolio Holder)

The Cabinet considered Report No. DSP1801, which sought approval to award a grant from the Farnborough Airport Community Environmental Fund, which had been set up to assist local projects.

The Operational Services Portfolio Holder had considered the application by Oak Farm Pre-school, Ballantyne Road, Farnborough for an award of £10,000 towards

the cost of developing a sensory garden. It was confirmed that this application met all of the agreed criteria.

**The Cabinet RESOLVED** that a grant of £10,000 be awarded from the Farnborough Airport Community Environmental Fund to Oak Farm Pre-school.

## 57. REPORT OF URGENCY DECISION - UTILISATION OF COMMUTED SUM MONIES TO GRANT FUND AFFORDABLE HOMES TO RENT AT BIRCHETT ROAD, ALDERSHOT -

(Cllr Barbara Hurst, Planning and Economy Portfolio Holder)

The Cabinet considered Report No. EPSH1801, which notified the Cabinet of an urgency decision that had been taken in respect of the approval of £100,000 of commuted sum funds to be invested in grant funding 50 units of affordable homes to rent in Aldershot town centre. The decision had been taken as a matter of urgency at the request of Homes England to support their internal decision-making process and timescales on capital grant funding this scheme in excess of £2.6 million. Members were informed that this decision had secured, in perpetuity, the Council's nomination rights in respect of 50 units at the site.

The Cabinet NOTED the actions taken, as set out in Report No. EPSH1801.

## 58. INTERNATIONAL CULTURAL AND BUSINESS LINKS –

(Cllr David Clifford, Leader of the Council)

The Cabinet considered Report No. DSP1802, which set out an overview to town twinning and the arrangements in Rushmoor.

Members were informed that the links with the twin towns of Meudon and Oberusel remained strong and active. In recent years, the Borough had experienced significant social and economic changes and this had led to consideration of whether the establishment of new cultural and business links would be appropriate. As a result, it was now proposed that the Council should establish new links with towns in Nepal, Poland and the United States. The background to each of these proposed links was set out in the Report. The Town Twinning Association had been consulted on the proposals and was in support.

The Cabinet expressed strong support for the establishment of these new links.

## The Cabinet RECOMMENDED TO THE COUNCIL that

- (i) approval be given to seek to establish cultural and business links with the following places, as set out in Report No. DSP1802:
  - Gorkha Municipality, Nepal
  - Rzeszow, Poland
  - Dayton, Ohio, United States; and
- (ii) the Chief Executive and the Head of Democracy, Strategy and Partnerships, in consultation with the Leader of the Council, be authorised to make the necessary arrangements to establish the formal links.

The Meeting closed at 7.46 pm.

CLLR D.E. CLIFFORD, LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

-----

## LICENSING, AUDIT AND GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE

Meeting held on Monday, 24th September, 2018 at the Council Offices, Farnborough at 7.00 pm.

## Voting Members

Cllr J.E. Woolley (Chairman)

Cllr Sue Carter Cllr A.K. Chowdhury Cllr Liz Corps Cllr A.H. Crawford Cllr A.J. Halstead Cllr Marina Munro Cllr M.D. Smith

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Cllr Jacqui Vosper, Cllr M.S. Choudhary and Cllr B. Jones.

## 17. MINUTES

The Minutes of the Meeting held on 30th July 2018 were approved and signed by the Chairman.

## 18. ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER

The Chairman welcomed to the meeting Ms. Justine Thorpe of Ernst & Young who presented the external auditor's annual audit letter for the year ended 31st March 2018. The purpose of the annual audit letter was to communicate to Members and external stakeholders, including members of the public, the key issues arising from the work of the external auditor which it was felt should be brought to the attention of the Council. It was noted that the annual audit letter had to be published on the Council's website by the end of October, 2018

The Committee was advised that the areas of work covered by Ernst & Young had been:

- To provide an opinion on the Council's financial statements where the auditor had given an unqualified opinion The auditor was of the opinion that the financial statements gave a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council as at 31st March, 2018 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended.
- To provide an opinion on the consistency of other information published with the financial statements The auditor had stated that other information published with the financial statements was consistent with the Annual Accounts.

• To conclude on the Council's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness – The auditor had concluded that the Council had put in place proper arrangements to secure value for money in the use of its resources.

The annual audit letter also set out key areas of significant risk, which had been tested. These included:

- risk of fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition
- risk of management override
- property, plant and equipment valuation
- pension liability valuation

The auditor's testing had identified no mis-statements from revenue and expenditure recognition, no material weaknesses in controls or evidence of material management override and no material mis-statements from inappropriate judgements being applied to the property valuation estimates.

Areas of work where reports would be provided by exception included:

- Consistency of the Annual Governance Statement The auditor was of the opinion that the Annual Governance Statement was consistent with the auditor's understanding of the Council.
- Public interest report The auditor had no matters to report in the public interest.
- Written recommendations to the Council, which should be copied to the Secretary of State The auditor had no matters to report.
- Other actions taken in relation to the auditor's responsibilities under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 The auditor had no matters to report.
- Reporting to the National Audit Office on review of the Council's Whole of Government Accounts return – The auditor had no matters to report.

The Committee was also advised that the Audit Results Report had been issued on 30th July, 2018 and a certificate of completion of the audit had been issued on 31st July 2018 in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the National Audit Office's 2015 Code of Audit Practice.

Members were informed that, in November 2018, the auditor would also issue a report to those charged with governance of the Council summarising the certification work undertaken on the 2017/18 housing benefits claim.

**RESOLVED**: That the Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31st March, 2018 be noted.

## 19. CONSULTATION ON PROPOSED REVISION TO THE COUNCIL'S STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY

The Committee considered the Head of Environmental Health and Housing's Report No. EHH1824 regarding the preparation and publication of a revised Statement of Licensing Policy. Following various legislative changes and a review, a number of changes to the Council's licensing policy were proposed to ensure that the policy was current and up-to-date.

The Committee was advised that, following consideration by the Cabinet, the revised licensing policy had been approved for public consultation. Given its role and responsibilities, the views of the Committee were sought on the revised policy and any comments or recommendations would be reported to the Cabinet for consideration and determination, as appropriate.

In considering the proposed changes, the Committee was advised of the legislative updates including:

- The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011
- The Live Music Act, 2012
- The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014
- The Deregulation Act 2015
- The Immigration Act 2016
- The Policing and Crime Act 2017

Under the Licensing Act, a licensing authority had to carry out its functions with a view to promoting the following licensing objectives. These were included in the proposed policy, namely:

- the prevention of crime and disorder
- public safety
- the prevention of public nuisance; and
- the protection of children from harm

The proposed policy also outlined the arrangements for the licensing authority to make recommendations in respect of the restriction of children to any exhibition of film which had not been classified by the British Board of Film Classification. This accorded with mandatory condition requirements applicable to the exhibition of films.

The Report then explained a change regarding neighbourhood notifications. It was proposed that the current policy of issuing neighbourhood notifications of applications should be withdrawn. This had been recommended on the basis that the Act placed the onus of advertising applications on the applicant.

The Committee noted that one of the key features of the 2010 policy review had been the implementation of a special policy concerning the cumulative impact of licensed premises. At the time, the policy had been implemented to restrict the grant and/or variation of premises licences in a defined area of Aldershot town centre and had been based on the request of, and evidence of cumulative impact provided by, Hampshire Constabulary. This special policy had been subject to annual review and, whilst invoked on a handful occasions, had lapsed after twelve months due to lack of continuing justification and evidence of an ongoing problem.

The Committee was advised that the Council had to consult a number of statutory stakeholders and individuals who might be affected by any changes (eg the licensed trade and residents in the area). It was proposed to run the consultation period until 19th October 2018. The Statement of Licensing Policy would be submitted to the Full Council for approval following consideration by the Cabinet.

Whilst subject to some discussion, Members made no substantive comments or suggested amendments on the contents of the proposed policy document.

**RESOLVED**: That the draft Statement of Licensing Policy contained in the Head of Environmental Health and Housing's Report No. EHH1825 be endorsed.

## 20. FEES AND CHARGES (ANIMAL WELFARE LICENSING AND SKIN PIERCING REGISTRATION)

The Committee considered the Head of Environmental Health and Housing's Report No. EHH1825 which sought approval for revised fees for animal welfare licensing and skin piercing registration provided by the Environmental Health Service.

The Committee was advised that The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018 would come into force on 1st October 2018 and would consolidate animal licensing regimes into one piece of law. It was noted that, under the new regulations, a new licensing regime had to be put in place to control the licensable activities of:

- selling animals as pets (pet shops)
- boarding for cats or dogs (home, kennels, catteries, day care)
- hiring out horses
- breeding dogs
- keeping or training animals for exhibition

The new regulations replaced the licensing regimes under the Pet Animals Act 1951, Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963, Riding Establishments Acts 1964 and 1970, Breeding of Dogs Act 1973 and the Breeding and Sale of Dogs (Welfare) Act 1999 and the Performing Animals (Regulation) Act 1925. It was noted that current licences issued under the previous legislation would continue to be valid until they expired. Licences would then need to be applied for under the new regime. The Report set out the proposed revised fee structure and the method of fee construction together with the new processes to be followed.

Members were also advised that the fees for skin piercing had last been uplifted on 1st April 2018 and that these should be uplifted again in line with inflation. The Committee was informed that the proposed fees in respect of skin piercing registration (acupuncture, tattooing, ear piercing and electrolysis) would be increased from £167 (per premises) to £173 and from £94 (per person) to £97, to take effect from 1st April 2019.

**RESOLVED**: The Committee approved the revised fees set out in the Head of Environmental Health and Housing's Report No. EHH1825, with fees in respect of animal welfare licensing taking effect from 1st October 2018 and the fees for skin piercing registration taking effect from 1st April 2019.

# 21. APPOINTMENT OF INTERIM EXECUTIVE HEAD OF FINANCE

The Chairman advised the Committee of an urgent executive decision which had been taken by the Chief Executive in consultation with the Portfolio Holder and Executive Director in August 2018 to appoint an Interim Executive Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer following the resignation of the previous post holder. The urgency related to the need for a statutory Section 151 Officer and the requirement to deal with the process for the following year's budget. Following interview, the Chief Executive, Portfolio Holder and Executive Director had appointed Mr. Peter Timmins to the role, pending recruitment in due course when the Committee would make an appointment. Members noted that the interim appointment was for 6-12 months. Prior to the appointment, the Chief Executive had informed the Leader of the Council, the Leader of the Labour Group and the Chairman of action to be taken. The Cabinet and all Members of the Council had also been informed of the appointment.

**RESOLVED**: That the urgent action taken by the Chief Executive, in respect of the appointment of an Interim Executive Head of Finance, be endorsed.

The meeting closed at 8.04 pm.

CLLR J.E. WOOLLEY (CHAIRMAN)

-----

# DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Meeting held on Wednesday, 10th October, 2018 at the Council Offices, Farnborough at 7.00 pm.

### Voting Members

Cllr B.A. Thomas (Chairman) Cllr J.H. Marsh (Vice-Chairman)

> Cllr Mrs. D.B. Bedford Cllr D.M.T. Bell Cllr R.M. Cooper Cllr P.I.C. Crerar Cllr Sue Dibble Cllr Jennifer Evans Cllr Mara Makunura Cllr A.R. Newell

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Cllr C.P. Grattan.

Cllr P.F. Rust attended the meeting.

#### **Non-Voting Members**

Cllr Barbara Hurst (Planning and Economy Portfolio Holder) (ex officio)

# 25. **DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST**

There were no declarations of interest.

#### 26. MINUTES

The Minutes of the meeting held on 15th August, 2018 were approved and signed by the Chairman.

#### 27. PLANNING APPLICATIONS

#### **RESOLVED**: That

- (i) permission be given to the following application, as set out in Appendix "A" attached hereto, subject to the conditions, restrictions and prohibitions (if any) mentioned therein:
  - \* 18/00566/FULPP (Ivy Road Recreational Ground, Ivy Road, Aldershot);

- (ii) planning permission/consent be refused in respect of the following application as set out in Appendix "B" attached hereto for the reasons mentioned therein:
  - \* 18/00580/FULPP (Nos. 36 and 40 and land to the rear of Nos. 26-54 Cove Road, Farnborough);
- (iii) the applications dealt with by the Head of Planning, where necessary in consultation with the Chairman, in accordance with the Council's Scheme of Delegation, more particularly specified in Section "D" of the Head of Planning's Report No. PLN1826, be noted;
- (iv) the following applications be determined by the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Chairman:

*	18/00506/FULPP	(Nos. 1-5	Firgrove Pa	rade, Farnbo	orough);
*	18/00623/FULPP	(Nos. Farnboro	110-118 ugh);	Victoria	Road,

 (v) the current position with regard to the following applications (as amended at the meeting) be noted pending consideration at a future meeting:

16/00981/FULPP	(Aldershot	Bus	Station,	No.	3,	Station
	Road, Alde	rshot)	);			

18/00140/FULPP (Meudon House, Meudon Avenue, Farnborough);

18/00225/LBCPP (Ramsden Garden Wall Memorial – Montgomery Lines, Aldershot);

18/00367/OUTPP (Former Police Station, Pinehurst Avenue, Farnborough);

18/00466/FULPP (No. 117 Farnborough Road, Farnborough);

18/00481/FULPP (Old Warehouse and Star Yard, Aldershot);

18/00614/FULPP (Randell House, Fernhill Road, Blackwater, Camberley);

18/00657/FULPP (Farnborough Airport, Farnborough Road, Farnborough);

\* The Head of Planning's Report No. PLN1826 in respect of these

applications was amended at the meeting

#### 28. SITE VISIT

**RESOLVED:** That a site visit be undertaken in respect of the following planning application for the reason set out:

Application No.	Address	Reason for Site Visit
18/00614/FULPP		To assist in consideration of the application given the proximity to properties in Randell Close.

# 29. **REPRESENTATIONS BY THE PUBLIC**

In accordance with the guidelines for public participation at meetings, the following representations were made to the Committee and were duly considered before decisions were reached:

Application No.	Address	Representation	In support of or against the application
18/00580/FULPP	Nos. 36 and 40 and land to the rear of Nos. 26- 54 Cove Road, Farnborough	Mr. M. Danaher	In support
18/00623/FULPP	Nos. 110-118 Victoria Road, Farnborough	Mr. S. Cater	In support

#### 30. APPLICATION NO. 18/00506/FULPP - NOS. 1-5 FIRGROVE PARADE, FARNBOROUGH

The Committee considered the Head of Planning's Report No. PLN1826 (as amended at the meeting) regarding the demolition of existing buildings and erection of a new building comprising retail use at ground floor (flexible use of Use Class A1, A2, A3, A4 and/or A5) and 19 dwellings above (eight one-bedroom and 11 two-bedroom flats) with associated car and cycle parking, bin storage and amenity space and installation of an electricity substation.

It was noted that the recommendation was to grant permission subject to the completion of a satisfactory Agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

**RESOLVED:** That subject to the completion of a satisfactory Agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to secure financial contributions towards open space, transport, SPA/SAMM mitigation and to vary the 2013 planning agreement as necessary, the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Chairman, be authorised to grant planning permission subject to the conditions and informatives set out in the Report (as amended at the meeting).

### 31. APPLICATION NO. 18/00623/FULPP - NOS. 110-118 VICTORIA ROAD, FARNBOROUGH

The Committee considered the Head of Planning's Report No. PLN1826 (as amended at the meeting) regarding the demolition of five detached dwellings and erection of 42 apartments (26 one-bedroom and 16 two-bedroom) for the elderly (60 years of age and/or partner over 55 years of age), guest apartment, communal facilities, access, car parking and landscaping.

It was noted that the recommendation was to grant permission subject to any amendment to Condition 14 required to address any views received from Hampshire County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority, a financial contribution towards affordable housing as set out in the Report (as amended at the meeting) being satisfactorily addressed and the completion of an appropriate planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

# **RESOLVED:** That:

- (i) subject to any amendment to Condition 14 required to address any views received from Hampshire County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority and a financial contribution towards affordable housing as set out in the Report (as amended at the meeting), the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Chairman, be authorised to grant planning permission subject to the completion of an appropriate 106 planning obligation by 6th December, 2018 in respect of Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Measures (SAMM), open space, affordable housing and highway matters as set out in the Report (as amended at the meeting) and the revised conditions and informatives set out in the Report (as amended at the meeting).
- (ii) in the event of failure to complete a satisfactory Section 106 planning obligation by 6th December, 2018, the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Chairman, be authorised to refuse planning permission on the grounds that the proposal fails to make appropriate provision for open space, affordable housing and SAMM nor mitigate its impact in highway terms contrary to development plan policies and the provisions of the Council's supplementary planning document Planning Contributions – Transport 2008.

# 32. ENFORCEMENT AND POSSIBLE UNAUTHORISED DEVELOPMENT - NO. 107 FERNHILL ROAD, FARNBOROUGH

The Committee considered the Head of Planning's Report No. PLN1827 regarding the building of a new boundary fence over one metre in height to the front of the property without permitted development rights. The property owners had been invited to submit a planning application for the retention of the boundary fence. To date, no application had been submitted.

The Committee was advised that the new fence appeared similar in height to the previous fence, whilst the width had been reduced overall by approximately 30cm at each end, increasing the vehicular entrances at both neighbouring properties. Members were advised that Hampshire County Council would not object to any request for retrospective planning permission were one to be submitted.

**RESOLVED**: That no further action be taken.

# 33. APPEAL PROGRESS REPORT

#### (1) New / Withdrawn Appeals

#### Address Description

Land affected by TPO Against the refusal of consent for the removal of one oak 416A – within Links tree located in woodland at the rear of No. 28 Randolph Way, Fox Heath and Drive. It was noted that this appeal was being dealt with by means of the written procedure. Farnborough

No. 65 Cove Road, The appeal had been withdrawn by the appellant on 26th September, 2018.

#### (2) **Appeal Decisions**

Application / Enforcement Case No.	Description	Decision
18/00070/CONSRV	Against an enforcement notice requiring removal of unauthorised uPVC windows installed in a building converted to flats in a Conservation Area at No. 14 Church Circle, Farnborough.	Dismissed
16/00109/HOME	Against an enforcement notice requiring the owner to cease using any part of the land for the storage and sale of motor vehicles, and remove from the land all vehicles other than those owned by the residential occupiers of the land, which are stored in connection with and ancillary to the residential use of the land at No. 36	Dismissed

18/00181/FUL Against the Council's refusal of planning Allowed

Mayfield Road, Farnborough.

permission for a two-storey rear extension, single storey front extension and rooflights to front at No. 107 Fernhill Road, Farnborough.

**RESOLVED:** That the Head of Planning's Report No. PLN1828 be noted.

The meeting closed at 8.10 pm.

CLLR B.A. THOMAS (CHAIRMAN)

-----

# Development Management Committee 10th October 2018

# Appendix "A"

Application No. & Date Valid:	18/00	566/FULPP	24th July 2018
Proposal:	recrea provis	ation/community use, exte	n, replace with new pavilion for ension of existing car park and naires at <b>Ivy Road Recreation</b> ampshire
Applicant:	Rush	moor Borough Council	
Conditions:	1		by permitted shall be begun hree years from the date of this
		Country Planning Act 19	y Section 91 of the Town and 990 as amended by Section 51 pulsory Purchase Act 2004.
	2	•	e completed in the external and set out in the submitted
		Reason - To ensure sa and surface water draina	itisfactory external appearance ge.*
	3	area covered by the ap between the hours of 08 and 0800-1300 on Satur	on work of any sort within the oplication shall only take place 00-1800 on Monday to Fridays days. No work at all shall take ank or Statutory Holidays.
		•	he amenities of neighbouring t adverse impact on traffic and vicinity.
	4	provision for the storage premises shall be submi the Local Authority. The	and removal of refuse from the tted and approved in writing by approved details shall be made to the first occupation of the

Reason - To safeguard the amenities of the area.

5 The building shall not be occupied until the existing and additional car parking and cycle parking facilities have been provided and/or marked out in accordance with the approved plans. The overall parking facilities shall thereafter be retained solely for parking purposes, and made available to the occupiers and visitors to the premises \*

Reason - To ensure that provision for vehicle parking clear of the highway is available for users of and visitors to the development in the interests of highway safety.

6 No construction shall commence until there has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: -

i. a desk top study carried out by a competent person documenting all previous and existing uses of the site and adjoining land, and potential for contamination, with information on the environmental setting including known geology and hydrogeology. This report should contain a conceptual model, identifying potential contaminant pollutant linkages.

ii. if identified as necessary; a site investigation report documenting the extent, scale and nature of contamination, ground conditions of the site and incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as appropriate by the desk top study.

iii. if identified as necessary; a detailed scheme for remedial works and measures shall be undertaken to avoid risk from contaminants/or gas identified by the site investigation when the site is developed and proposals for future maintenance and monitoring, along with verification methodology. Such scheme to include nomination of a competent person to oversee and implement the works.

Where step iii) above is implemented, following completion of the measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted for approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To ensure that the site is safe for the development permitted and in the interests of amenity and pollution prevention.\*

7 In the event that unforeseen ground conditions or materials which suggest potential or actual contamination are revealed at any time durina implementation of the approved development it must be reported, in writing, immediately to the Local Planning Authority. A competent person must undertake a risk assessment and assess the level and extent of the problem and, where necessary, prepare a report identifying remedial action which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the measures are implemented.

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification report must be prepared and is subject to approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To ensure that the site is safe for the development permitted and in the interests of amenity and pollution prevention and to ensure that the development is not put at unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by mobilized contaminants in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

8 Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be permitted other than with the express written consent of the local planning authority, which may be given for those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason - To ensure that the proposed potential piling does not harm groundwater resources in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

9 The building shall not be occupied until the external lighting shown on the approved plans is installed and made available for use.

Reason - To provide an appropriate environment for users of the playing fields

10 The development hereby approved shall be undertaken strictly in accordance with the Arboricultural Impact

Assessment and BS 5837 Tree Survey prepared by Sapling Arboriculture Ltd dated August 2018 and referenced J1079.02.

Reason - To preserve the amenity value of the retained trees and shrubs.\*

11 Ground floor levels within the building hereby approved shall be no lower than 600 millimetres (mm) above the estimated flood level.

Reason - In the interests of managing flood risk.

12 The permission hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved drawings - D33858/RD/B, 6CT76 Lighting column, Kingfisher Lighting data sheet Italo Street, Italo 1 luminaire and Quarto luminaire information, existing floor plan, IVY/2 Rev A, IVY 4 and IVY /10

Reason - To ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the permission granted

# Appendix "B"

# Application No. 18/00580/FULPP 27th July 2018 & Date Valid:

Proposal: Re-development of land involving erection of 7 houses (comprising 1 x 2 bed and 6 x 3 bed dwellings) divided between two terraced blocks and associated works following demolition of existing buildings at 36, 40 And Land To The Rear Of 26 - 54 Cove Road Farnborough Hampshire

Applicant: Block 88 Ltd

- Reasons: 1 The proposed development, by reason of the ad hoc, piecemeal and constrained nature of the application land and the poorly-contrived design of the proposed development would be an incongruous form of development which would relate poorly and unsympathetically to its surroundings. Furthermore, the proposed development would be likely to prejudice the possible future development of adjoining land together with the application land in a more satisfactory and comprehensive manner. As such, allowing the current proposals to proceed would not be in the interests of the proper planning of the vicinity nor make the most efficient use of land. The proposed development is thereby contrary to adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP2, and emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-2032) Policies DE1 and SS1.
  - 2 It has not been demonstrated that the application land is suitable for residential re-development having regard to potential ground contamination. The proposals are thereby contrary to saved Local Plan Policy ENV49 and emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-2032) Policy DE10.
  - 3 The proposals would result in the loss of a tree worthy of retention. The proposals also fail to provide adequate justification for the removal of a substantial boundary screen hedge and has failed to consider the impact of the proposed development on a tree in the rear garden of No.24 Cove Road near the proposed Plot 7 house. The proposals are contrary to saved Local Plan Policies ENV13 and ENV20, and emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-2032) Policy NE3.

- 4 Inadequate consideration has been given to the relationships of the proposed development with existing immediately adjoining and nearby residential properties, the occupiers of which would suffer a material loss of privacy due to undue direct overlooking and loss of amenity due to noise, disturbance and activity arising from the use of the parking courtyards. The proposals are thereby unacceptable and contrary to adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy Policy CP2, saved Local Plan Policy ENV17 and emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-2032) Policy DE1.
- 5 The proposed development would provide a poorly contrived and inadequate living environment for potential future occupiers by reason of the potential for undue overlooking of proposed dwelling units from existing neighbouring properties and/or the likely noise, disturbance and cooking odours arising from the operation of nearby commercial uses. The proposals are thereby contrary to Rushmoor Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP2, saved Local Plan Policy ENV17, and emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-2032) Policy DE1.
- 6 The proposed development makes no provision to address the likely significant impact of additional residential units on the objectives and nature conservation interests of the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area. The proposals are thereby contrary to the requirements of retained South East Plan Policy NRM6, Rushmoor Core Strategy Policies CP13 and CP15, and emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-2032) Policies NE1 and NE4.
- 7 The proposal has failed to demonstrate, through adequate ecological surveys of the application land, that there would be no adverse impact on protected wildlife species having regard to the requirements of adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy Policy CP15 and emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-2032) NE4.
- 8 8. The proposals, would be likely to have a severe impact on the safety and convenience of highway users, including users of the adjoining pedestrian pavement due to:-

(a) the failure to propose improvements to the means of vehicular access to and from the site and the proposed intensification in the use of existing substandard and unsatisfactory driveways with poor pedestrian and vehicular sight-lines;

(b) the failure to provide adequate on-site parking to

meet the functional parking needs of the proposed development and the existing continuing requirements to provide parking for occupiers of adjoining properties outside the application land in an area with significant demand for very limited on-street parking with the consequent likelihood of significant indiscriminate overspill parking and additional demand on already limited on-street parking in the vicinity;

(c) inadequate on-site vehicle manoeuvring space; and

(d) the failure to consider the impact of the proposed development upon refuse collection arrangements;

the proposal would therefore be contrary to adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy Policies CP2 and CP16, saved Local Plan Policy TR10, emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan Policy IN2, and the Council's adopted Parking Standards SPD (November 2017).

- 9 The proposals fail to provide details of appropriate surface water drainage for the development as required by adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy Policy CP4 and emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan Policy NE8.
- 10 The proposals fail to provide details of sustainable energy performance measures as required by adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy Policy CP3 and emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan Policy DE1.

INFORMATIVE - THE FOLLOWING PLANS & DOCUMENTS WERE CONSIDERED IN MAKING THIS DECISION:- CDA Drawing Nos.CDA-249-010 REV.A, -011 REV.A, -012 REV.A, -015, -016 REV.A, -017 REV.A, -018 REVA, -019, and -020; Vail Williams PLANNING, Dseign & Access Statement (July 2018); Motion TRANSPORT STATEMENT (May 2018): Sapling Arboriculture Ltd. ARBORCULTURAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT (June 2018); Groundsure Review Report (5 July 2018); and Darwin Ecology Preliminary ECOLOGICAL REPORT (July 2018).

# DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Meeting held on Wednesday, 7th November, 2018 at the Council Offices, Farnborough at 7.00 pm.

### Voting Members

Cllr B.A. Thomas (Chairman) Cllr J.H. Marsh (Vice-Chairman)

> Cllr Mrs. D.B. Bedford Cllr R.M. Cooper Cllr Sue Dibble Cllr Jennifer Evans Cllr Mara Makunura Cllr A.R. Newell

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Cllr C.P Grattan and Cllr P.I.C. Crerar.

In the absence of Cllrs Grattan and Crerar, Cllrs Veronica Graham-Green and P.F. Rust attended the meeting.

#### **Non-Voting Members**

Cllr Barbara Hurst (Planning and Economy Portfolio Holder) (ex officio)

# 34. VOTE OF THANKS

The Committee was advised that Keith Holland, Head of Planning, was attending his last meeting of the Development Management Committee. The Committee formally thanked Mr Holland for his service to the Council and referred to his professionalism, knowledge and expertise.

# 35. **DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST**

There were no declarations of interest.

#### 36. MINUTES

The Minutes of the meeting held on 10th October, 2018 were approved and signed by the Chairman.

#### 37. PLANNING APPLICATIONS

**RESOLVED:** That

(i) permission be given to the following applications, as set out in Appendix "A" attached hereto, subject to the conditions, restrictions and prohibitions (if any) mentioned therein:

*	18/00481/FULPP	(Upper	Union	Terrace	and	Nos.	182	to
		192 Vic	toria Ro	oad, Alde	rshot	);		

- \* 18/00657/FULPP (Farnborough Airport, Farnborough Road, Farnborough);
- (ii) planning permission/consent be refused in respect of the following application as set out in Appendix "B" attached hereto for the reasons mentioned therein:

18/00466/FULPP	(Pinehurst House, No. 7	117 F	arnborough
	Road, Farnborough);		

- (iii) the applications dealt with by the Head of Planning, where necessary in consultation with the Chairman, in accordance with the Council's Scheme of Delegation, more particularly specified in Section "D" of the Head of Planning's Report No. PLN1829, be noted;
- (iv) the following application be determined by the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Chairman:
  - \* 18/00140/FULPP (Meudon House, Meudon Avenue, Farnborough);
- (v) the current position with regard to the following applications be noted pending consideration at a future meeting:

16/00981/FULPP	(Aldershot Bus Station, No. 3, Station Road, Aldershot);
18/00225/LBCPP	(Ramsden Garden Wall Memorial – Montgomery Lines, Aldershot);
18/00367/OUTPP	(Former Police Station, Pinehurst Avenue, Farnborough);
18/00614/FULPP	(Randell House, Fernhill Road, Blackwater, Camberley);
18/00709/FULPP	(Land adjacent Green Hedges, Hawley Road, Blackwater,Camberley);

\* The Head of Planning's Report No. PLN1829 in respect of these applications was amended at the meeting

# 38. **REPRESENTATIONS ON APPLICATIONS**

In accordance with the guidelines for public participation at meetings, the following representations were made to the Committee and were duly considered before decisions were reached.

The Committee also considered a request from Cllr G.B. Lyon to speak at the meeting in his capacity as an Empress Ward Councillor. The Committee agreed to this request, on the basis that there were no Empress Ward Members on the Committee.

Application No.	Address	Representation	In support of or against the application
18/00466/FULPP	Pinehurst House, No. 117 Farnborough Road, Farnborough	Cllr. G.B. Lyon Mr. D. Eyre Mr. D. Kemp	Against Against In support
18/00657/FULPP	Farnborough Airport, Farnborough Road, Farnborough	Mr. J. Drake	In support

# 39. APPLICATION NO. 18/00140/FULPP - MEUDON HOUSE, MEUDON AVENUE, FARNBOROUGH

The Committee considered the Head of Planning's Report No. PLN1829 (as amended at the meeting) regarding the demolition of existing structures and erection of 205 dwellings comprising 93 one-bedroom flats, 80 two-bedroom flats and 32 three-bedroom townhouses with associate access, parking and landscape arrangements.

It was noted that the recommendation was to grant permission subject to the completion of an appropriate Section 106 planning obligation by 19th December, 2018.

# RESOLVED: That

(i) subject to the expiry of the site notice advertising a departure from the development plan and no adverse comments being received which have not been previously addressed and subject to the completion of an appropriate Planning Obligation under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 by 19th December, 2018 in respect of Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM), open space, affordable housing and highway matters, the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Chairman, be authorised to grant planning permission subject to the conditions and informatives set out in the Head of Planning's Report No. PLN1829 (as amended at the meeting). (ii) in the event of failure to complete the appropriate Planning Obligation by 19th December, 2018 the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Chairman, be authorised to refuse planning permission on the grounds that the proposal fails to make appropriate provision for open space, affordable housing and SAMM, nor mitigates its impact in highway terms contrary to development plan policies and the provisions of the Council's supplementary planning document Planning Contributions – Transport 2008.

# 40. PLANNING (DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT) SUMMARY REPORT FOR THE QUARTER JULY - SEPTEMBER 2018

The Committee received the Head of Planning's Report No. PLN1830 (as amended at the meeting) which provided an update on the position with respect to achieving performance indicators for the Development Management section of Planning and the overall workload of the section for the quarter from 1st July to 30th September, 2018.

-----

**RESOLVED**: That the Head of Planning's Report No. PLN1830 be noted.

The meeting closed at 8.45 pm.

CLLR B.A. THOMAS (CHAIRMAN)

#### Development Management Committee 7th November 2018

#### Appendix "A"

Application No. & Date Valid:	18/00481/FULPP	25th June 2018
Proposal:	the upper floors and a two-stor into a total of 7 flats (comprisi bedroom units) at 182-192 existing warehouse building into floors and provision of a park ground floor with vehicular acce at the Old Warehouse; demolit block adjoining the Old Wa	ng 4 X 1-bedroom and 3 X 2- Victoria Road; conversion of o 4 X 1-bedroom flats on upper ing and bin-store area on the ess opened up to Union Terrace ion of the single-storey garage rehouse backing onto Union new-build 4-storey extension Varehouse building to provide a e each on the upper floors (14 parking spaces, bin stores and at <b>Upper Union Terrace And</b>

- Applicant: Jepsam Properties Limited
- Conditions: 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of one year from the date of this permission.

Reason - As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, to reflect the objectives of the Council's Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy as amended July 2014 and to accord with the resolution of Rushmoor's Cabinet on 17 June 2014 in respect of Planning Report no PLN1420.

2 The permission hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved drawings - CT Foo Associates Drawing Nos. 1/30 REV.D, 2/30 REV.D, 3/30, 4/30, 5/30, 6/30, 7/30, 8/30, 9/30 10/30 REV.A, 11/30 REV.A, 12/30 REV.A. REV.A. 13/30 REV.A, 14/30 REV.B, 15/30 REV.A, 16/30, 17/30, 18/30 REV.B, 19/30 REV.B, 20/30 REV.D. 21/30 REV.D, 22/30 REV.D, 23/30 REV.D, 24/30 REV.C, 25/30 REV.B, 26/30 REV.B, 27/30 REV.B, 28/30 REV.A, 29/30 REV.A, 30/30, & 31/31; and Design, Access & Heritage Statement; Protected Species Walkover Survey; Bat Survey Report; Surface Water Strategy Report; and Site Investigation Report.

Reason - To ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the permission granted.

3 Notwithstanding any indication of materials which may have been given in the application, or in the absence of such information, construction of the following elements of the development hereby approved [the external walls, roofing materials, window frames/glazing, decorative window and balcony balustrade railings, rainwater goods, and any new external hard-surfacing materials] shall not start until a schedule and/or samples of the materials to be used in them have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Those elements of the development shall be carried out using the materials so approved and thereafter retained.

Reason - To ensure a satisfactory external appearance to the development. \*

4 Prior to occupation or use of the development hereby approved, screen and boundary walls, fences, hedges or other means of enclosure shall be installed in accordance with details to be first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The boundary treatment shall be completed and retained in accordance with the details so approved.

Reason - To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring property. \*

5 The dwelling units hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the parking spaces, bicycle storage and bin storage areas shown on the approved plans have been constructed, surfaced and made available to occupiers of, and visitors to, the development; in the case of parking spaces in accordance with the scheme of allocation indicated on the approved plans. Thereafter these facilities shall be kept available at all times for their intended purposes and allocation as shown on the approved plans. Furthermore, the parking spaces shall not be used at any time for the parking/storage of boats, caravans or trailers.

Reason - For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure the provision, allocation and retention of adequate off-street

car and bicycle parking, servicing, and bin storage within the development. \*

6 Provision shall be made for services to be placed underground. No overhead wire or cables or other form of overhead servicing shall be placed over or used in the development of the application site.

Reason - In the interests of visual amenity.

7 Construction or demolition work of any sort within the area covered by the application shall only take place between the hours of 0800-1800 on Monday to Fridays and 0800-1300 on Saturdays. No work at all shall take place on Sundays and Bank or Statutory Holidays.

Reason - To protect the amenities of neighbouring residential properties and to prevent adverse impact on traffic and parking conditions in the vicinity.

8 Prior to the first occupation of the flats hereby permitted, details for a communal aerial/satellite dish/fibre-optic system shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The new flats hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the approved scheme has been installed and made operational.

> Reason - In the interest of the visual amenity of the area by avoiding the unnecessary proliferation of aerial/satellite dish installations on the building.

9 Prior to the commencement of development (including any demolition) a Construction Management Plan to be adopted for the duration of the construction period shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details required in this respect shall include:

(a) the provision to be made for the parking and turning on site of operatives and construction vehicles during construction and fitting out works;

(b) the means and measures to be taken to control noise, dust, vibration, smoke and other emissions arising from the implementation of the development;

(c) the arrangements to be made for the delivery of all building and other materials to the site, including construction servicing/delivery routes;

(d) the provision to be made for any storage of building and other materials on site;

(e) measures to prevent mud from being deposited

on the highway;

- (f) the programme for construction; and
- (g) the protective hoarding/enclosure of the site.

Such measures as may subsequently be approved shall be retained at all times as specified until all construction and fitting out works have been completed.

Reason - In the interests of the amenity, safety and convenience of adjoining and nearby residential properties and the safety and convenience of highway users. \*

10 Site clearance and works to implement the permission hereby permitted shall be undertaken in accordance with the recommendations of the AEWC Ltd. Protected Species Walkover Survey and Bat Survey Reports dated 14 June 2018 hereby approved.

Reason - In the interests of protected wildlife.

11 11 No construction works this pursuant to permission. the excavation including and installation/construction of foundations for the new building hereby approved, shall commence until there has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: -

> i. a desk top study carried out by a competent person documenting all previous and existing uses of the site and adjoining land, and potential for contamination, with information on the environmental setting including known geology and hydrogeology. This report should contain a conceptual model, identifying potential contaminant pollutant linkages.

> ii. if identified as necessary; a site investigation report documenting the extent, scale and nature of contamination, ground conditions of the site and incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as appropriate by the desk top study.

> iii. if identified as necessary; a detailed scheme for remedial works and measures shall be undertaken to avoid risk from contaminants/or gas identified by the site investigation when the site is developed and proposals for future maintenance and monitoring, along with verification methodology. Such scheme to include nomination of a competent person to oversee

and implement the works.

Where step iii) above is implemented, following completion of the measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted for approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To ensure that the site is safe for the development permitted and in the interests of amenity and pollution prevention.\*

12 In the event that unforeseen ground conditions or materials which suggest potential or actual contamination are revealed at any time durina implementation of the approved development it must be reported, in writing, immediately to the Local Planning Authority. A competent person must undertake a risk assessment and assess the level and extent of the problem and, where necessary, prepare a report identifying remedial action which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the measures are implemented. Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification report must be prepared and is subject to approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To ensure that the site is safe for the development permitted and in the interests of amenity and pollution prevention.

13 Prior to the installation of drainage, details of measures to incorporate Sustainable Drainage Systems (SUDS) into the new built development in accordance with the proposals and recommendations outlined in the Innervision Design Surface Water Strategy Report dated May 2018 hereby approved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details as may be approved shall be implemented in full prior to the first occupation of the new-build dwelling units hereby permitted and retained in perpetuity.

Reason - To reflect the objectives of Policy CP4 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy. \*

14 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted a bat box shall be installed integrated into the

new development in accordance with details which have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Furthermore, any scheme of external lighting to be installed shall be bat friendly. The installations in this respect shall subsequently be retained thereafter.

Reason - To ensure biodiversity gain in line with emerging Policy NE4 of the New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-2032). \*

15 Prior to the first occupation of any of the new-build dwellings hereby permitted, details of measures to achieve the energy performance standards in accordance with Code Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes or equivalent for each of these dwellings hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details as may be approved shall be implemented in full prior to the first occupation of the dwelling(s) to which they relate and retained in perpetuity.

Reason - To reflect the objectives of Policy CP3 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy. \*

16 The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until measures to protect the dwellings from internal and external noise (as appropriate) have been implemented in accordance with a scheme to include, for example, acoustic double-glazing and ventilation and acoustic insulation which has been first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To protect the amenity of the occupiers of the development. \*

Application No.	18/00657/FULPP	6th S
& Date Valid:		

#### 6th September 2018

- Proposal: Construction of a new hangar for maintenance, repair and overhaul of aircraft and ancillary offices with associated works including aircraft apron, connection to taxiway, vehicle parking, new access roads and an amended access connecting to Trenchard Way, security fencing, gatehouse, drainage, remediation works and lighting together with associated landscaping at Farnborough Airport Farnborough Road Farnborough Hampshire
- Applicant: Gulfstream Aerospace, Ltd
- Conditions: 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years from the date of this permission.

Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2 Notwithstanding any indication which may have been given in the application, or in the absence of such information, no works shall start on site until details of a method statement for demolition and construction works (including works to the hangar apron) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall then be carried out in accordance with the approved method statement. \*

Reason - To secure a satisfactory development.

3 No development shall commence until a remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This strategy will include the following components: \*

(i) The results of the site investigation and detailed risk assessment referred to in the Phase 1 and 2 report and, based on these, an options appraisal and

remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken.

(ii) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (1) are complete and identifying any requirements for longerterm monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. Any changes to these components require the written consent of the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved.

Reason - To prevent deterioration of water quality within the Windlesham Formation, which is a Secondary A aquifer, during development.

4 If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site then no further development (unless agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until remediation strategy detailing how this contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.

Reason - To prevent a deterioration in water quality within the Windlesham Formation, which is a Secondary A aquifer, during development

5 The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the car parking facilities have been provided and marked out in accordance with the approved plans. The parking area shall thereafter be retained solely for parking purposes, and made available to the occupiers and visitors to the premises unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. \*

Reason - To ensure that provision for vehicle parking clear of the highway is available for users of and visitors to the development in the interests of highway safety.

6 Construction or demolition work of any sort within the area covered by the application shall only take place between the hours of 0800-1800 Monday to Friday and 0800-1300 on Saturdays. No works at all shall take place on Sundays and Public Holidays unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Any pile driving shall be restricted to 0800-1800 Monday to Friday only, unless otherwise first agreed in writing.

Reason - To protect the amenities of neighbouring residential properties and other occupiers, and to prevent adverse impact on traffic and parking conditions in the vicinity

7 A Construction Traffic Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing before development commences. This should include construction traffic routes, parking and turning provision to be made on site, measures to prevent mud from being deposited on the highway and a programme for construction. The agreed details shall be fully implemented before the development is commenced. \*

Reason - In the interests of highway safety.

8 Prior to first occupation or use of the development hereby approved a fully detailed landscape and planting scheme (to include, where appropriate, both landscape planting and ecological enhancement) shall be first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To ensure the development makes an adequate contribution to visual amenity and habitat creation.

9 All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the occupation of the buildings or the practical completion of the development, whichever is the sooner, and any plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damages or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species.

Reason - In the interests of amenity and to achieve a satisfactory standard of landscaping.

10 Notwithstanding any information given on the approved drawings, the security gatehouse at the entrance to the site from Trenchard Way shall be constructed in accordance with full details of its precise location, size, design, appearance and external materials which shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any work on it commences. The structure shall be thereafter retained in accordance with the details so approved \*

Reason - The gatehouse will be within a Public Safety Zone, and the Local Planning Authority will need to take account of advice and guidance given in Department for Transport Circular 01/2010: Control of Development in Airport Public Safety Zones.

11 Prior to occupation of the site, the access road from Trenchard Way shall be constructed as shown in principle in drawing no. 184040/A/03, including adequate visibility splays in accordance with the appropriate design standards. \*

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

12 The barrier associated with the security gatehouse hereby approved shall be set back a minimum of 35m from Trenchard Way to allow an appropriate stacking capacity for queuing vehicles waiting to access the site.

Reason - To accord with the terms of the application and in the interests of highway safety.

13 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, a travel plan co-ordinator shall be appointed to monitor travel to and from the facility based on an agreed process and a travel plan, details of which shall be first submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The requirements and obligations contained within the Travel Plan shall be implemented and complied with as approved.

Reason - In the interests of preventing undue reliance on the use of the private car.

14 No storage of parts, materials, plant or equipment shall take place other than within the hangar or inside the screen wall of the external plant area.

Reason - In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and to safeguard the operation of the service yard.

15 No activity outside the proposed hanger during the hours of 22:00 to 07:00 Monday to Friday and 20:00 to 08:00 hours on weekends and on Bank Holidays, shall involve the running of aircraft engines, the use of an aircraft's auxiliary power unit, the use of ground power units and the use of air tools for the purposes of metal forming, unless otherwise first agreed in writing with th Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and minimise the impacts of the development.

16 Prior to occupation of the site, a Noise Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Noise Management Plan shall identify the type and location of operational and other activities likely to cause disturbance to nearby sensitive receptors and set out means to minimise noise arising from these activities. It shall set out a process for the recording and investigation of complaints received pertaining to noise and how such complaints will be dealt with. It shall include a strategy for monitoring noise to ensure the effectiveness of measures implemented and identify a process for regular review of the Plan. The Noise Management Plan shall be adhered to throughout the lifetime of the development. \*

Reason - To protect the amenities of neighbouring occupiers.

17 Within six months of the date of this permission, a Habitat Mitigation Plan to address the loss of habitat (SINC) to additional apron shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing.

> The scheme of mitigation shall include habitat creation, management and monitoring methodology for wildflower habitats to be created around the car park; and additional habitat creation, management and monitoring methodology for acid grassland/heathland to be provided. The scheme of mitigation shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details and timescale so approved.

> Reason - To provide mitigation for neutral and acidic grassland lost to development on the Site of Nature Conservation Interest (SINC) and for biodiversity gain, in accordance with Policy CP15 of the Rushmoor Core Stretegy 2011.

18 The permission hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved drawings and documents - Drawing numbers:

1224-00-GA-904-000001 v3; 1224-XX-GA-200-000106 v2; 1224-00-GA-200-000101 v3; 1224-XX-GA-200-000107 v2; 1224-XX-GA-200-000102 v3; 1224-XX-SE-200-000108 v2; 1224-RF-GA-200-000103 v2; 1224-XX-SE-200-000109 v2; 1224-XX-SE-200-000104 v2; 1224-XX-GA-200-000110 v2; 1224-XX-SE-200-000105 v2; 1224-00-GA-200-000111 v1 and 184040/A/03, together with the document 'Ownership and Adoption of Drainage Systems' dated 17/10/2018.

Reason - To ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the permission granted

# Appendix "B"

Application No. & Date Valid:	18/00466/FULPP	19th June 2018
Proposal:	(Use Class B1) to facilitate c residential use (Use Class C3 7 X studio, 52 X 1-bedroom bedroom units); retention/pro	erations to existing office building onversion and change of use to ) to provide 113 flats (comprising n, 52 X 2-bedroom and 2 X 3- ovision of 199 on-site parking vehicular access to Earnborough

spaces and use of existing vehicular access to Farnborough Road; and landscaping including creation of new landscaped podium amenity courtyard at **117** Farnborough Road Farnborough Hampshire GU14 7JG

- Applicant: Pinehurst Investments Ltd
- 1 The proposal, by virtue of the design, mass, bulk, and Reasons: height of the additions to the building and the proximity of windows of new residential units, would have a detrimental effect on the amenities of neighbouring properties within residential The Convent. 115 Farnborough Road by virtue of enclosure and loss of privacy due to actual and perceived overlooking. The proposal is therefore contrary to adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy Policy CP2; saved Local Plan Policy ENV16; and emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014 to 2032) Policy DE1. The proposal further fails to address the requirement for high quality design set out in the National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance.
  - 2 In the absence of a s106 Planning Obligation, the proposal fails to make provision for an appropriate Special Protection Area Mitigation and Avoidance contribution towards strategic access management measures in order to address the impact of the proposed development upon the nature conservation interests and objectives of the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area. The proposals are thereby contrary to the requirements of retained South East Plan Policy NRM6; Policies CP13 and CP15 of the adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy (October 2011); and Policies NE1 & NE4 of the emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014 to 2032).

3 In the absence of a s106 Planning Obligation, the

proposal fails to make provision for public open space in accordance with the requirements of Policies CP11 and CP12 of the adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy (October 2011); saved Local Plan Policies OR4 and OR4.1; emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014 to 2032) Policy IN2; and the Council's continuing Interim Advice Note (dated August 2000 and updated July 2006) "Financial Contributions towards Provision of Open Space in Association with New Housing Development".

In the absence of a s106 Planning Obligation, the proposal fails to make provision for appropriate transport contributions to address the impact on local highway infrastructure as required by Policies CP16 and CP17 of the adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy (October 2011); saved Local Plan Policy TR10; emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014 to 2032) Policy IN2; and the Council's adopted "Planning Contributions : Transport" Supplementary Planning Document, April 2008.

#### 1. INFORMATIVE:

4

THE FOLLOWING PLANS & DOCUMENTS WERE CONSIDERED IN MAKING THIS DECISION:- OSEL Architects Drawing Nos. E17- 005/SITEX001 REV.A, -EXP001 REVB, -EXP002 REV.B, -EXP003 REV.A, -EXP004 REV.A, -EXP005 REV.A, -EXP006 REV.A, -EXE001, -EXE002, -EXS001, -SIT001 REV.E, -PRP001 REV.B, -PRP002 REV.C, -PRP003 REV.G, -PRP004 REV.E. -PRP005 REV.E. -PRP006 REV.F. -PRP007 REV.E, -PRP008 REV.F, -PRE001 REV.D, -PRE002 REV.D, -PRS001 REV.C, -PRS002 REV.B, -PRS003 REV.A, -DET001, -DET002, -PRE003 REV.A & -SCHE000 REV.A; Open Spaces Drawing No. OS 1495-17.1; and Motion Drawing No.170807-02 Rev.A; and DRK Planning Statement (June 2018), OSEL Architecture Design Statement (May 2018), Motion Transport Statement Rev.B (May 2018) & Revised Framework Travel Plan Rev.D (25/09/2018), Open Spaces Arboricultural Impact Assessment Rev.A (October 2018), Chine Consultancy Advice Ltd. Public Consultation Statement (June 2018), JNP Group Flood Risk Analysis & Drainage Report (August 2017), Hann Tucker Associates Environmental Noise Survey & Noise Impact Assessment (19/10/2017),Open Spaces Preliminary Ecology Appraisal & Bat Survey Inspection (October 2017), Waterman Air Quality Assessment (May 2018), Waldrams Daylight/Sunlight Report (September 2017), JMS Preliminary Structural Report (June 2018), Aspinal Verdi Economic Viability Assessment (May 2018) and Method Consulting Energy & Sustainability Strategy Report (August 2017).

# OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Meeting held on Thursday, 1st November, 2018 at the Council Offices, Farnborough at 7.00 pm.

# Voting Members

Cllr M.D. Smith (Chairman) Cllr Mrs. D.B. Bedford (Vice-Chairman) Cllr J.B. Canty (Vice-Chairman)

> Cllr T.D. Bridgeman Cllr M.S. Choudhary Cllr R.M. Cooper Cllr K. Dibble Cllr Veronica Graham-Green Cllr Nadia Martin Cllr B.A. Thomas

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Cllr B. Jones

#### 14. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

The minutes of the meeting held on 13th September, 2018 were agreed as a correct record.

#### 15. INVESTMENT IN COMMERCIAL PROPERTY

The Committee considered the Executive Directors Report No. ED1807, which set out the background to the Council's current position relating to commercial property and identified the way forward.

The Council's Executive Head of Regeneration and Property, Mr. Paul Brooks attended the meeting. Mr. Brooks explained that his team were currently looking in more detail at the processes used to invest in commercial property and requested that more time was allowed to gather the information requested by the Committee.

It was **AGREED** that detailed consideration of this item would be deferred to the meeting of the Committee on 31st January, 2019.

#### 16. EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT

The Committee received a presentation by Mr. Andrew Colver, Head of Democracy, Strategy and Partnerships, providing an update on education and skills in Rushmoor and the recent Key Stage 2 (KS2) and Key Stage 4 (KS4) results.

The presentation, highlighted educational levels of the working age population, Ofsted reports and the KS2 and KS4 results. The schools "requiring improvement",

according to Ofsted, were noted. It was advised that during 2017, the progress of pupils in some schools, at KS2, was below the national average in reading, writing and maths. However, 67% of schools had results above the England average in 2017 and 72% in 2016, the 2018 results were due in December, 2018.

It was explained that the KS4 GCSE results had shown that three secondary schools (Fernhill, Alderwood and Cove) were performing "below" or "well below" the average and only Wavell had an "average" score in the Progress 8 results. Wavell was also performing at the same level or slightly above the Hampshire and England averages for Attainment 8. In respect of the English and Maths GCSE grades 4/5, Wavell was the only secondary school in the Borough performing above the Hampshire and England averages. The Committee was also advised of the number of young people being entered for the English Baccalaureate, the numbers entering had varied over the past three years, but Wavell remained consistent with the number of pupils being entered. The results for 2017/18 showed that Wavell scored higher than the Hampshire and England averages. The 2017/18 provisional GCSE results showed that Wavell had scored "average" or "above average" in all areas. However, Cove, Fernhill and Alderwood were a cause for concern, scoring "below average" or "well below average". It was noted that Cove and Fernhill had, in the past, had difficulty maintaining staff; this situation appeared to have been resolved recently and most available positions had been filled by full time teaching staff. It was hoped that this positive change would translate into wider improvements going forward.

The Committee noted that Hampshire County Council (HCC), being the education authority, was striving to make improvements within the schools in the Rushmoor area. The Council was also involved in a range of initiatives, which had been introduced to support the secondary schools: these included mock interviews, careers days/events, mental health support and years 10 and 11 work placements. The Council was also working with students at the Farnborough College of Technology on a shadowing programme with Elected Members. It was reported that the Leader of the Council and the Cabinet had held meetings with headteachers and would continue to discuss issues, provide support and liaise with HCC to seek to address the challenges.

The Committee was asked to consider the issues raised and whether educational attainment issue could be taken forward as a project.

The Committee discussed the presentation and concerns were raised regarding the high turnover of staff in some schools and the support provided to those teachers in post. The number of children with special educational needs was also raised as an issue as were concerns around the effects of deprivation and lack of support from parents. It was recognised that the Council's role in this was limited but it was felt that it should be prioritised for further consideration.

The Committee **AGREED** that the way forward would be discussed further at a meeting of the Progress Group with a view to developing a project.

# 17. NORTH HAMPSHIRE COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP - UPDATE FROM SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

The Vice-Chairman (Cllr Jonathan Canty) updated the Committee on a recent meeting of the North East Hampshire Community Safety Partnership, which he had attended as the Council's representative. It was noted that the primary focus of the Partnership's work was on strategic assessment and performance.

Cllr Canty advised that there were gaps in the data being provided. The Police and Crime Commissioner's office had introduced a new data package, which was hoped would improve the way in which the data was captured.

The Strategic Assessment highlighted current trends. It was noted that, overall, the crime rate had risen in North East Hampshire and this was attributed to the way in which crimes were recorded. For example, in recent times there had been an increase in reports of historic sexual offences, which had skewed the figures. The two main areas for concern in the local area were anti-social behaviour and domestic violence related crimes. A number of recommendations had been made at the meeting, in particular:

- To develop the work around vulnerability with a focus on complex issues
- To consider the rolling out the Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPO's) across Hampshire.
- To pilot the "Making Every Adult Matter" initiative in Basingstoke, with the aim to roll it out across the county.

The Chairman thanked Cllr Canty for his update and it was **AGREED** that the issues would be considered in more detail at a future meeting of the Progress Group.

# 18. WORK PLAN

The Committee noted the current work programme.

The meeting closed at 8.07 pm.

CLLR M.D. SMITH (CHAIRMAN)

\_\_\_\_\_

This page is intentionally left blank

# POLICY AND PROJECT ADVISORY BOARD

Meeting held on Wednesday, 21st November, 2018 at the Council Offices, Farnborough at 7.00 pm.

### Voting Members

Cllr A.R. Newell (Chairman) Cllr Sophia Choudhary (Vice-Chairman) Cllr Marina Munro (Vice-Chairman)

> Cllr J.B. Canty Cllr A.H. Crawford Cllr P.I.C. Crerar Cllr Mara Makunura Cllr M.J. Roberts Cllr P.F. Rust Cllr J.E. Woolley

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Cllr R.L.G. Dibbs.

#### 17. MINUTES

The Minutes of the meetings held on 19th and 26th September, 2018 were approved and signed by the Chairman.

#### 18. HEALTH AND WELLBEING IN RUSHMOOR

The Board received a copy of the Community Audit which studied the effects school and local environments had on childhood obesity rates in the Borough of Rushmoor which was published in October 2018. The Council's Health and Physical Activity Officer highlighted the key messages in the Audit and the Board was asked to consider the priority actions to be taken forward.

The purpose of the study was to examine potential influences within school catchment environments which could be contributing to the above average levels of younger years' obesity in the Borough. All 29 infant, junior and primary schools across Rushmoor were included in the audit which had received a 100% return rate. The survey had asked schools for data around health and physical activity promotion, services or schemes that were provided relating to outdoor spaces, school and packed lunches, healthy eating education, extra-curricular sport activities and active travel to school. The study highlighted that, in catchment areas where there was relatively high deprivation affecting children, the weights of Year R and Year 6 children were significantly above the Hampshire average. Those school catchments with good open spaces and leisure facilities and a lower number of takeaway restaurants in the vicinity of the school had lower obesity rates.

There were a number of recommendations in the Audit that could be progressed in the short term, which included linking the Active Travel Team to schools not registered, encouraging all schools to sign up to the Daily/Golden Mile scheme, helping schools to access facilities to promote physical activity, and provide the survey outcomes so that best practice could be shared. The short-term recommendations had already been actioned or were in the process of being actioned. One of the medium/longer term actions was for the Council to establish a Local Action Group, with stakeholders to drive forward the work required to effect change within Rushmoor.

As a result a Local Action Group had been established with members from Public Health, representatives from six schools in the Borough and Hampshire County Council. A workshop was scheduled to discuss the recommendations in the report around supporting communities and creating healthy environments, improving eating habits and increasing activity, and education and promotion. The Local Action Group would aim to develop a series of ideas to be developed with the priority schools to reduce the obesity rates over the coming years.

The Board discussed the Audit data and recommendations and raised a number of issues for the Local Action Group and the Council to consider:

- Accessible outdoor space recommendations to be fed into the Southwood Park Management Plan.
- The policy on saturation of takeaways in one particular area to be addressed by Planning Services.
- Include health visitors as a group able to advise new parents.
- Work with takeaways restaurants to explore offering healthier alternative options.
- Work with Rushmoor Healthy Living to address home and family life issues.
- Run an achievement event at the end of the year for the most improved schools.
- Reference the <u>Local Government Association's Healthy Weights</u>, <u>Healthy Futures</u> document which showcased a number of actions being undertake across the country to tackle childhood obesity.

The recommendations from the Board would be reported to the Local Action Group for consideration. The actions agreed at the Local Action Group would be reported to the Progress Group. A progress report on the actions would be compiled which would be monitored by the Progress Group and any substantive issues would be reported back to the Board.

Action to be taken	By whom	When
Report issues raised by the Advisory Board to the	Martin	December
next meeting of the Local Action Group	Sterio	2018
Follow up Planning Policy issue on saturation of	Paul	December
takeaways	Brooks	2018
Report back on actions agreed by the Local	Martin	February
Action Group to the Progress Group	Sterio	2019
Compile a report for the actions agreed for the	Justine	February
Progress Group to monitor and report substantive	Davie	2019
issues back to the Advisory Board.		

# 19. DEVELOPMENT OF REGENERATION POLICY - ADVISORY BOARD ROLE

The Advisory Board considered the Joint Report ED1809 from the Executive Director and Head of Regeneration and Property which set out options and issues regarding the Advisory Board role in the development of the Council's regeneration policy. The Advisory Board had previously agreed that regeneration related matters should be considered by the Progress Group and/or the Advisory Board and then passed on to the relevant Task and Finish Group for further consideration. However, the Progress Group requested further information on the key regeneration work expected over the coming 12 months to agree which groups should be involved in each area.

The areas where key regeneration decisions would be required over the coming 12 months were set out as follows:

- Aldershot Town Centre Strategy
- Farnborough Civic Quarter and Masterplan engagement
- The Galleries scheme and other major planning applications by third parties
- Rushmoor Development Partnership (RDP) site proposals for the RDP Business Plan
- Farnborough Growth Package
- Strategies supporting or related to regeneration e.g. parking, housing, electric vehicles, open spaces

The Advisory Board discussed each of the areas of work and agreed that the Aldershot Town Centre Strategy should be reported to the full Advisory Board early in the New Year. The Galleries scheme was discussed and Members were concerned at the length of time it was taking for decisions to be made. The Advisory Board was advised that regular meetings were being held with the developer and, once an application was agreed, it was proposed that the Members of the Advisory Board should be engaged with any consultation activities. The Progress Group could then consider if any further action was required.

It was proposed that the Advisory Board should be consulted on the RDP business plan for key sites and could make recommendations to Cabinet where required. It was expected that the outline of the business plan would be finalised in Summer 2019.

A workshop was being held on 3rd January on the Farnborough Civic Quarter and all Members of the Advisory Board were encouraged to attend, if required an item could be included on a future agenda if Members wished to recommend any matters to the RDP or Cabinet. It was agreed that the Farnborough Civic Quarter Masterplan should also be reported to the full Advisory Board. The public engagement on the Farnborough Civic Quarter Masterplan was discussed and officers were encouraged to ensure that public engagement was interactive and well publicised. It was agreed that any strategies supporting or related to regeneration be reported to the full Advisory Board.

The Advisory Board supported that all issues relating to regeneration policy and consultation should be reported to the Progress Group and/or the full Advisory

Board. It was agreed, as a consequence, that the Farnborough Regeneration Task and Finish Group and the Aldershot Regeneration Task and Finish Group should be dissolved as the issues were of significant importance and of interest to all Members of the Advisory Board.

Action to be taken	By whom	When
Work programme to be updated to include	Justine	December
reports on the areas of regeneration activity	Davie	2018
discussed.		
Members of the Advisory Board attend	All	Ongoing
consultation workshops and events and	Advisory	
bring issues forward to the Progress Group	Board	
where required.	Members	

# 20. WORK PROGRAMME

The Board **NOTED** the work programme. It was requested that a report was circulated to the full Advisory Board on the issues discussed by the Progress Group and progress reports should be provided from the task and finish groups.

Action to be taken	By whom	When
Provide an update from the Progress	Chairman/Vice	January
Group and task and finish groups at each	Chairman	2019
Advisory Board meeting		

The meeting closed at 8.20 pm.

CLLR A.R. NEWELL (CHAIRMAN)

-----